INSTITUTE FOR GLOBAL PROSPERITY

Assessing The Ability of Incubators and Accelerators To Fill The Void Of Entrepreneurship Set By Economic Instability In Developing Nations: A Case Study Of Pakistan.

STUDENT NAME: Shamoon Hafeez (GBFD4)

MODULE CODE: BGLP0014

WORD COUNT: 15553

IGP MSc COURSEWORK

DECLARATION OF OWNERSHIP AND COPYRIGHT FORM

1. DECLARATION OF OWNERSHIP

I confirm that I have read and understood the guidelines on plagiarism produced by IGP and UCL, that I understand the meaning of plagiarism as defined in those guidelines, and that I may be penalised for submitting work that has been plagiarised.

This piece of coursework must be submitted electronically through Turnitin on Moodle by the stipulated deadline. I understand that the coursework cannot be assessed unless it is submitted online and that penalties will be applied for late submissions as per UCL and IGP guidelines unless there is an approved case for Extenuating Circumstances or Reasonable Adjustments.

I declare that all material is entirely my own work except where explicitly, clearly and individually indicated and that all sources used in its preparation and all quotations are clearly cited using a recognised system for referencing and citation. Should this statement prove to be untrue, I recognise the right of the Board of Examiners to recommend disciplinary action in line with UCL regulations.

2. COPYRIGHT

The copyright of the coursework remains with me as its author. However, I understand that anonymised copies may be made available to future students for reference. Please, tick the box if you DO NOT want this report to be made available for teaching purposes.



Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	5
1.1 Background and Rationale	5
1.2 Research Problem	5
1.3 Research Aims and Objectives	6
1.4 Research Questions	7
1.5 Structure of the Dissertation	7
Chapter 2: Literature Review	
2.1 Rationale	
2.2 Entreneurial Dynamics in A High-Risk Economy	 Q
2.2.1 Risk-Taking and Innovation	9
2.2.2 Understanding the Risk Environment in Pakistan	9
2.2.3 Solymossy's Model of Necessity-Driven Entrepreneurship	
2.2.4 Beyond Necessity: Modern Motivations for Entrepreneurship	11
2.3 Pakistan's Entrepreneurial Eco system	
2.3.1 Barriers to Entrepreneurial Growth in Pakistan	
2.3.2 Current status and positioning	12
2.3.4 Case Study: Airlift's Rise and Fall in Pakistan's Entrepreneurial Landscape	
2.4 Incubators and Accelerators: Nurturing Pakiston's Entropropourial Ecosystem	in o
Volatile Economy	ша
2.4.1 Introduction to Entrepreneurial Ecosystem Theory and Its Relevance	
2.4.2 Functions and Services Provided by Incubators and Accelerators	17
2.4.3 The Role of Incubators in Supporting High-Potential Start-ups	
2.4.4 The Role of Incubators in impacting the broader economy.	18
2.4.5 Evolution of Business incubation in Paristan	
2.5 Unique contributions of this study	
Chanter 3. Methodology	22
3.1 Introduction to Methodology	
3.2 Research Design and Justification	
3.2.1 Why Qualitative Research?	
3.2.2 Advantages of Qualitative Research in this Study	23
3.3 Participant Selection and Sampling Strategy	
3.3.1 Sampling Strategy	23
3.3.3 Participant Categories:	24
2.4 Date Callection Methods	
3.4 Data Collection Methods	25
3.4.2 Recording and Transcription	
3.5 Data Analysis	
3.6 Ethical Considerations	
Chapter 4: Findings and Discussions	28
- 4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Mapping Research Questions to Findings	

4.3 Policy and Support	
4.3.1 Policy Landscape and the Role of Support Structures in Entrepreneurship	
4.3.2 Findings on Government Support Perceptions (Policy and Support)	
4.3.3 Discussion:	
4.3.4 Evaluating the Substitutive Capacity of Incubators	
4.4 Finance	
4.4.1 Financial Challenges and the Role of Incubators in Supporting Start-ups	
4.4.2 Findings on Financial Support and Planning in Incubators	
4.4.3 Discussion	
4.5 Culture	43
4.5.1 Entrepreneurial Culture and the Role of Incubators in Shaping Start-up Resilience	
4.5.2 Findings on the Role of Incubators in Shaping Entrepreneurial Culture	
4.5.3 Discussion	
4.6 Human Capital and market	
4.6.1 The Role of Incubators in Enhancing Market Access and Human Capital Development	
4.6.2 Findings on Market Access and Human Capital Development in Pakistan's Entrepreneurial	
Ecosystem	
4.6.3 Discussion	
Chapter 5: Conclusion	52
5.1 Overview	
5.2 Implications for Practitioners and Entrepreneurs	
5.3 Implications for Investors and Financial Institutions	53
5.4 Implications for Academics and Researchers	53
5.5 Implications for Investors and Financial Institutions	53
5.6 Final Thoughts and Directions for Future Research	
Appendix	56
Reference list	57
Ecosystem 4.6.3 Discussion Chapter 5: Conclusion 5.1 Overview 5.2 Implications for Practitioners and Entrepreneurs 5.3 Implications for Investors and Financial Institutions 5.4 Implications for Academics and Researchers 5.5 Implications for Investors and Financial Institutions 5.5 Implications for Investors and Financial Institutions 5.6 Final Thoughts and Directions for Future Research <i>Appendix Reference list</i>	4 5 5 5 5 5

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Background and Rationale

Entrepreneurship is universally acknowledged as a potent catalyst for economic development, particularly in developing countries where it plays an indispensable role in driving innovation, generating employment, and fostering economic growth. In nations like Pakistan, however, economic instability presents a constant challenge, with entrepreneurs facing a daunting array of obstacles. These include volatile currency exchange rates, erratic government policies, and persistent inflationary pressures—all of which combine to create a highly unpredictable business environment. In such a context, traditional support mechanisms, including government interventions, often fall short, leaving entrepreneurial ventures without the stability and resources they need to thrive.

Amidst these challenges, incubators and accelerators have emerged as crucial support structures. These entities offer a suite of services designed to help start-ups not only survive but also grow in these challenging conditions. While funding is a significant aspect of their support, incubators and accelerators also provide mentorship, strategic resources, and access to networks that are vital for navigating the complexities of economic instability. Despite the recognized importance of these support structures, there remains a considerable gap in our understanding of how effectively incubators and accelerators contribute to the resilience and growth of start-ups, particularly in the volatile economic environment of Pakistan.

This study seeks to bridge this gap by exploring the role of incubators and accelerators in supporting start-up resilience and growth amid economic instability in Pakistan. By employing ecosystem theory, the research aims to generate insights that will be valuable not only to practitioners within the entrepreneurial ecosystem but also to investors and academics interested in the dynamics of entrepreneurship in developing economies. The findings of this study are expected to contribute to the development of more effective support structures for start-ups and to enhance the strategies used by practitioners and investors in similar developing contexts.

1.2 Research Problem

Given the volatile economic environment in Pakistan, sustaining and growing start-ups is a significant challenge. This study specifically explores whether incubators and accelerators can effectively serve as alternatives to traditional government support by providing the stability, resources, and guidance that are crucial for start-ups to navigate economic instability. This issue is particularly pressing in Pakistan, where economic fluctuations significantly heighten the risks faced by entrepreneurs, making the role of support structures like incubators and accelerators even more critical.

1.3 Research Aims and Objectives

The central aim of this research is to rigorously evaluate the effectiveness of incubators and accelerators in bolstering the resilience and growth of start-ups amid the economic instability prevalent in Pakistan. Effectiveness, in this context, refers not merely to the capacity of these entities to address immediate operational challenges but also to their ability to enhance the long-term growth potential of start-ups while mitigating the adverse effects of economic fluctuations. By providing a stable environment for innovation and development, incubators and accelerators can be instrumental in navigating the turbulent economic landscape of Pakistan.

To achieve this overarching aim, the research pursues several interconnected objectives. First, it examines the role of incubators by exploring how different types and sizes of these entities, ranging from large, resource-rich organizations to smaller, more localized initiatives, support entrepreneurs during periods of economic volatility This exploration will shed light on the varying capacities of these entities to provide essential services such as mentorship, networking opportunities, and access to capital, which are crucial for sustaining start-ups in challenging times.

Another key objective is to identify the adaptive strategies employed by entrepreneurs who succeed in these volatile environments. By uncovering the methods and practices that allow start-ups to navigate and thrive despite economic instability, the research will provide valuable insights into the resilience mechanisms within Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem. This will include examining how entrepreneurs leverage the resources and networks provided by incubators and accelerators to mitigate risks and capitalize on emerging opportunities.

The research also seeks to analyse the interactions within the entrepreneurial ecosystem, focusing on how these interactions vary across different regions and incubator sizes in Pakistan. Understanding these dynamics is crucial, as it will reveal how the broader ecosystem, comprising government policies, financial institutions, educational organizations, and other key stakeholders, supports or hinders the effectiveness of incubators and accelerators in fostering start-up growth and resilience.

Finally, the study aims to evaluate the impact of government policies on the performance of incubators in Pakistan. This aspect of the research will assess whether current policies effectively support the operations of these entities and whether there are gaps that need to be addressed to enhance their role as alternatives to traditional government support for start-ups. By evaluating the alignment between government initiatives and the needs of incubators, the research will offer recommendations for policy improvements that could strengthen Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem.

1.4 Research Questions

The research is structured around two central questions. The first question investigates how incubators and accelerators in Pakistan support the resilience and growth of start-ups during periods of economic instability. This inquiry focuses on the specific ways these entities provide essential resources, mentorship, and networks that enable start-ups to withstand and thrive amid economic challenges. The second question addresses the challenges and limitations faced by these incubators and accelerators, particularly when they attempt to serve as alternatives to government support in Pakistan's urban centres. This question aims to uncover the specific obstacles these entities encounter and how these challenges affect their ability to support start-ups effectively.

1.5 Structure of the Dissertation

The dissertation is organized into five chapters. Chapter 2 offers a comprehensive review of the literature, focusing on existing research related to entrepreneurship in unstable economies, the role of incubators and accelerators, and the application of ecosystem theory in this context. Chapter 3 details the methodology of the study, including the qualitative research design, participant selection, data collection methods, and analytical techniques employed. Chapter 4 presents the research findings and discusses them through the lens of ecosystem theory, highlighting their implications for the entrepreneurial ecosystem in Pakistan. Finally, Chapter 5 concludes the dissertation by synthesizing the research findings, addressing the research questions, and offering recommendations for strengthening Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem in the face of economic instability.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1 Rationale

Entrepreneurship drives economic growth and innovation, fostering diversification and job creation in developing economies (Sagar, 2024; Kritikos, 2014). It enhances productivity and reduces poverty by opening new market opportunities (OECD, 2010). However, entrepreneurs in these regions encounter significant challenges. Economic instability, prevalent in developing nations, restricts access to capital, distorts market conditions, and undermines the risk-taking necessary for innovation (Shah and Lala, 2023; Jonek-Kowalska and Wolniak, 2021; Bergmann and Utikal, 2021). The volatility of economic conditions and the absence of a robust financial infrastructure further complicate the environment for startups, making it difficult for them to secure essential investments (World Bank, 2018). Entrepreneurs must navigate a landscape fraught with financial uncertainty, regulatory hurdles, and infrastructural deficits (Crnogaj and Rus, 2023).

In Pakistan, these challenges are particularly severe. The Pakistani Rupee has depreciated by over 50% against the US dollar in the past five years, significantly increasing the cost of imported goods and raw materials, which in turn negatively impacts startup profitability (Khan et al., 2023; George, 2023). High inflation rates and inconsistent government policies further complicate long-term business planning (Alam, Shopovski, and Aicha El Alaoui, 2024). Amid such instability, incubators and accelerators emerge as crucial support structures, offering more than just funding. They provide mentorship, strategic resources, and networks that are essential for sustaining businesses through challenging economic periods (Zameer, 2020; Madaleno et al., 2021). Despite their critical role, there is limited research on how incubators and accelerators function as alternatives to government support during economic downturns. While government support is vital for creating a conducive business environment, it often falls short of the personalized, hands-on approach that incubators and accelerators provide (Alaassar, Mention, and Aas, 2021). Moreover, government initiatives are frequently slow and hindered by bureaucratic inefficiencies (Li et al., 2020).

This literature review critically examines existing research on the role of incubators and accelerators in economically unstable environments, with a particular focus on Pakistan. By identifying significant gaps in the current understanding, this review lays the groundwork for exploring how these entities interact with the broader entrepreneurial ecosystem and serve as alternatives to government support during economic downturns.

2.2 Entrepreneurial Dynamics in A High-Risk Economy

2.2.1 Risk-Taking and Innovation

Risk-taking drives innovation and economic progress, especially in challenging environments (Nejati and Shahidi, 2013). It allows entrepreneurs to discover opportunities and transform societies, particularly in developing economies (Noer et al., 2023). This dynamic is vital in high-risk environments where systemic challenges often block traditional paths to success (Callegari and Feder, 2021). Entrepreneurs in high-risk economies like Pakistan, who venture into uncharted territories, frequently spearhead developments that drive economic progress and social change (Pervaiz and Khan, 2015). The willingness to take risks and experiment with novel ideas fosters a culture of continuous improvement and adaptation, essential for business survival and growth in volatile markets (Noer et al., 2023). This interplay between risk and innovation highlights the need for supportive policies and infrastructure to mitigate inherent risks and promote innovative endeavours (Klasing, 2014).

2.2.2 Understanding the Risk Environment in Pakistan

The Pakistani entrepreneurial landscape is characterized by significant economic instability, including fluctuating inflation rates, volatile currency values, and political unrest (Zaman, 2023). According to a study conducted by Rahman and Abbas (2020), the Pakistani Rupee has experienced severe depreciation against major currencies as illustrated in figure 1, significantly impacting the purchasing power and financial stability of businesses. These economic fluctuations, coupled with inconsistent government policies and regulatory challenges, create an environment classified as 'extreme' due to the substantial uncertainties and economic constraints faced by entrepreneurial ventures.

Currency Depreciation in Countries with the Highest Default Risk					
Country	Depreciation of the Local Currency Since January 1, 2020	Debt Default Risk Ranking*			
📩 Ghana	32%	2			
C Pakistan	35%	4			
Egypt	15%	5			
Kenya	15%	6			
Argentina	74%	7			
Ukraine	44%	8			
Srazil	22%	11			
🛃 Angola	10%	12			
≽ South Africa	16%	15			
C• Turkey	67%	20			
Colombia	26%	23			
Nigeria	41%	24			
Mexico	7%	25			

Figure 1: Currency Depreciation with the highest default risk (Bloomberg, 2022)

2.2.3 Solymossy's Model of Necessity-Driven Entrepreneurship

In 'extreme environments,' entrepreneurial pursuits often transcend opportunity and become a matter of survival. Solymossy's (2005) expanded model suggests that ventures in high-risk settings are frequently initiated out of necessity rather than choice. His model emphasizes that in these environments, traditional employment opportunities are scarce or unreliable, compelling individuals to start their businesses as a means of economic survival (Solymossy, 2005). This argument is supported by Kumar's study (2020), which observes that many Pakistani entrepreneurs migrate to more stable environments like the UAE or Saudi Arabia in search of financial security.



Figure 2: Solymossy's (2005) expanded model.

However, the model's focus on economic profit does not fully encapsulate the myriad motivations of modern entrepreneurs in 'extreme environments. Roden (2017), in her case study about Nairobi, presents compelling evidence that shifts in the entrepreneurial landscape, spurred by digitalization, globalization, and a growing emphasis on social entrepreneurship, are significantly influencing 'pull' factors. This suggests that many entrepreneurs in developing nations plagued by instability are driven by a desire to effect positive societal change, leveraging technology and innovation to address local challenges. Such motivations extend beyond the scope of Solymossy's model, which does not adequately address the complex interplay of factors that influence today's entrepreneurs. Another illustration of this is Solomon and van Klyton's (2020) research, which indicates that access to digital platforms can mitigate some traditional barriers to entrepreneurship, allowing for operations despite 'extreme' conditions.

2.2.4 Beyond Necessity: Modern Motivations for Entrepreneurship

Contemporary research suggests that entrepreneurial dynamics in Pakistan are influenced by a broader range of factors, including social, cultural, and technological changes (Zafar et al., 2022). Entrepreneurs in Pakistan are increasingly driven by a mix of necessity and opportunity, leveraging digital technologies and innovative business models to navigate the challenging environment (Arif, 2022). This indicates a gap in Solymossy's model, which does not fully account for the evolving motivations and strategies of modern entrepreneurs in high-risk economies. Push factors, such as economic necessity and lack of employment opportunities, drive many to entrepreneurship out of survival needs (Fratzscher, 2012). Conversely, pull factors, such as the desire to exploit market opportunities, innovate, and achieve personal fulfilment, also play a significant role (Mahmood et al, 2021). This evidence suggests that the interplay of push and pull factors in Pakistan's entrepreneurial landscape is complex and multifaceted, driven by both survival needs and the pursuit of market opportunities.

Identifying this gap underscores the need for an updated framework that integrates both push and pull factors, recognizing the evolving dynamics of modern entrepreneurship in high-risk economies. Solymossy's model provides a foundational understanding, but it must be expanded to include the broader, multifaceted motivations that drive today's entrepreneurs in volatile environments.

2.3 Pakistan's Entrepreneurial Eco system

2.3.1 Barriers to Entrepreneurial Growth in Pakistan

The strength and vibrancy of an entrepreneurial ecosystem are critical in determining the nature of entrepreneurs a country produces. In the past decade, countries like Singapore and South Korea have provided a blueprint for developing nations such as Pakistan on the significance of a thriving entrepreneurial ecosystem and its potential to be the core of innovation and economic progress (Kshetri, 2014). Achieving a successful entrepreneurial ecosystem is a complex endeavour, influenced by various environmental factors, including cultural attitudes, access to finance, supportive policies, and the presence of networks and mentors.

Unlike the robust environments seen in the U.S. and China, which benefit from extensive research and development investments, Pakistan has traditionally focused on established sectors like textiles, neglecting the growth of a dynamic entrepreneurial culture (Ahmed, 2016). Pakistan's textile industry, accounting for about 60% of total exports and contributing around 8.5% to the GDP as illustrated in figure 3, has overshadowed other sectors, diverting attention and resources from potential entrepreneurial ventures (Latif and Javid, 2016). This historical focus has not only stifled innovation but also hindered economic diversification. As highlighted by Farid et al. (2023), the ecosystem faces

compounded challenges such as limited access to venture capital, inadequate infrastructure, and insufficient mentorship. These elements are critical for nurturing start-ups and fostering innovation, yet their scarcity has severely restricted the growth potential of new enterprises.



Figure 3: Pakistan Textile exports contribution to the GDP (Latif and Javid, 2016)

2.3.2 Current status and positioning

Despite its vast population of 240 million and abundant natural resources, Pakistan's start-up ecosystem ranks a modest 71st globally, a position that starkly contrasts with its potential. Pakistan's performance on the Global Innovation Index (GII) from 2011 to 2019, as demonstrated in Figure 4, averaged around 24, significantly lagging behind regional counterparts such as India (35), Singapore (60), and Thailand (38) (Jawaid, 2020). According to Bloomberg Economics, Pakistan ranks in the bottom quintile for innovation propensity due to a poor business climate, low institutional quality, and insufficient technology infrastructure.



Figure 4: Global Innovation Index (Jawaid, 2020)

A significant barrier to Pakistan's entrepreneurial growth is the limited access to venture capital. Unlike India and Singapore, where robust venture capital ecosystems thrive, Pakistan has seen minimal investment in its start-ups (Rossow, 2023; Lyttle, 2022). In 2024, the total venture capital investment in Pakistan was significantly lower compared to other regional players, with only a handful of start-ups securing substantial funding rounds (Riaz, 2024). This funding gap hinders the ability of start-ups to scale operations and innovate within the market. Additionally, countries like India have supportive regulatory environments that simplify business registration and tax processes (Rossow, 2023), while Singapore offers substantial government incentives and infrastructure support, making it easier for start-ups to thrive (Lyttle, 2022). This disparity underscores the critical importance of a supportive government regulatory framework and policies for fostering start-up growth.

2.3.3 Government Policies and Their Impact on Pakistan's Entrepreneurial Ecosystem

The role of government policies in shaping a country's entrepreneurial landscape cannot be overstated. Historically, Pakistan's economic strategy has favoured large-scale industrial sectors, providing significant tariff protections and incentives to these industries (Rana, 2022). This approach has inadvertently stifled the growth of a vibrant small-scale and entrepreneurial sector. Improved governance and institutional quality are crucial for fostering favourable economic outcomes, as emphasized by studies from Hussain & Waheed (2019) and Ramzan et al. (2023). However, policies have often neglected small and medium enterprises (SMEs), which constitute 90% of Pakistan's economic establishments (Haider, Din, and Ghani, 2011). This policy misalignment suggests a persistent oversight in addressing the needs of burgeoning entrepreneurs, thereby hindering innovation and the development of a robust entrepreneurial ecosystem.





Figure 5: Ease of doing business ranking (World bank, 2019)

Simplifying the regulatory environment is essential. According to the World Bank's Doing Business report (Figure 5), Pakistan ranks 136th out of 190 countries in ease of doing business, struggling particularly in areas such as enforcing contracts, registering property, and obtaining electricity (Kamran et al., 2022). Simplifying business registration processes, tax regulations, and reducing bureaucratic hurdles can help create a more conducive environment for entrepreneurship. Access to capital is another critical factor for start-ups. Programs like the Prime Minister's Youth Entrepreneurship Program provide loans and training to young entrepreneurs, while initiatives such as the Pakistan Investment Roadmap aim to attract foreign investment in key sectors, including technology and innovation (McKinsey, 2024). However, Qamar et al (2020) in his research showcases interesting findings that more targeted efforts are needed to ensure start-ups in diverse sectors, such as agriculture and social impact, can access necessary funding. This illustrates that despite the government initiatives, they currently fall short when compared to the comprehensive support systems available in regional counterparts, indicating a need for more robust and widespread financial support mechanisms.

2.3.4 Case Study: Airlift's Rise and Fall in Pakistan's Entrepreneurial Landscape

The Airlift case exemplifies systemic shortcomings in governmental support for new ventures. Despite raising \$85 million, Airlift ceased operations due to worsening economic conditions and inadequate support mechanisms. (Nadeem, 2022). This funding represented approximately 27% of the total \$310 million raised by all start-ups in Pakistan, as demonstrated in Figure 6, underscoring the significant potential Airlift held within the national start-up landscape.

The collapse of Airlift not only represents the loss of a potential unicorn but also marks a substantial setback for Pakistan's burgeoning tech scene, which had shown signs of significant momentum (Motte, 2022). This event underscores widespread issues within the entrepreneurial ecosystem, notably the unreliable nature of governmental support for start-ups. Delving into this issue, Wadho and Chaudhry (2018) critically examine the Pakistani sporadic support mechanisms like funding and mentorship programs, highlighting their inadequacy in providing the consistent, robust backing needed for start-ups to successfully navigate their formative stages and sustain growth.

This lack of support is further exacerbated by research conducted by (Kumar, 2020) who describes Pakistan as an environment of political instability, frequent policy shifts, and inadequate infrastructure, which collectively increase operational risks and costs for start-ups. The hesitant approach of the government in unstable economic conditions, focusing on short-term fixes rather than long-term stability, creates an uncertain climate for entrepreneurs who are looking to innovate and drive economic growth. Airlift's collapse highlights the urgent need for dependable support systems capable of weathering Pakistan's economic and political turbulence, pointing to the crucial role of incubators and accelerators within the entrepreneurial landscape (Motte, 2022). These entities stand out by offering continuous support, filling the gaps left by intermittent government initiatives (Nadeem, 2022). The forthcoming sections will explore how incubators and accelerators not only aid in the success of individual start-ups but also strengthen the overall entrepreneurial ecosystem in Pakistan, positioning them as essential pillars of support in an unpredictable economic environment.



Figure 6: Proportion of Airlift's Funding Relative to Total Start-up Funding in Pakistan (Start-up Scene, 2022)

2.4 Incubators and Accelerators: Nurturing Pakistan's Entrepreneurial Ecosystem in a Volatile Economy

2.4.1 Introduction to Entrepreneurial Ecosystem Theory and Its Relevance

To effectively discuss the role of incubators and accelerators in Pakistan, it's essential to link their function to entrepreneurial ecosystem theory, which offers a framework for understanding how various elements within an entrepreneurial environment interact and support each other. This theory posits that a thriving economic environment is driven by a robust network of interconnected participants, including start-ups, established corporations, government entities, financial institutions, and educational organizations (Al-Baimani et al., 2021). These participants form an interdependent network where the success of one element often fuels the growth and innovation of others.

In an entrepreneurial ecosystem, the interactions among these participants are vital for fostering innovation and driving economic growth. Ziakis et al. (2022) note that start-ups depend on access to venture capital, mentorship, and business development services to scale, while Corvello et al. (2024) highlight how established corporations benefit from the innovative solutions startups offer. Additionally, Glass and Newig (2019) explore the critical role of government policies in facilitating these interactions, and Ahmad et al (2023) emphasize the importance of educational institutions in equipping entrepreneurs with the skills needed to navigate complex markets. Together, these studies illustrate the interconnected support network essential for fostering innovation and economic development.

In Pakistan, entrepreneurial ecosystem theory is particularly relevant due to the country's volatile economic climate. The ecosystem includes a diverse array of participants, but its effectiveness is often hindered by inconsistent government policies, limited access to capital, and inadequate infrastructure (Li et al., 2020). Despite these challenges, incubators and accelerators have become crucial components, providing talent retention, network access, and funding, which are especially vital in an unstable economic environment (Hafeez, Ali, and Nawaz, 2021). Viewing Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem through this lens clarifies that the success of start-ups relies not just on individual efforts but on the collective strength and interconnectivity of all ecosystem participants. This perspective highlights the importance of fostering a supportive and integrated network capable of adapting to and thriving despite economic challenges.

2.4.2 Functions and Services Provided by Incubators and Accelerators

In Pakistan, incubators and accelerators deliver key services that are instrumental in advancing startups. Central to their offerings is mentorship, where experienced entrepreneurs and industry experts assist start-ups in refining business models and navigating market challenges. This guidance is particularly crucial in Pakistan's volatile economic environment, where timely advice can make a significant difference (Kehinde Feranmi Awonuga et al., 2024).

Beyond mentorship, these entities provide vital business development support, including access to office space, administrative assistance, and legal resources. Such services allow start-ups to concentrate on product development and market expansion without getting hindered by operational difficulties. Additionally, by organizing workshops and networking events, incubators connect start-ups with potential partners, customers, and investors, fostering an environment conducive to innovation and growth (Hafeez, Ali, and Nawaz, 2021).

Another critical role of incubators is facilitating access to venture capital. In a landscape where funding is scarce, incubators help bridge this gap by linking start-ups with investors willing to take calculated risks. This support includes aiding in the preparation for investment through pitch decks, financial models, and business plans—essentials for securing funding in a competitive market (Li et al., 2020). Events such as pitch days and demo sessions further increase the likelihood of start-ups obtaining necessary funding, mitigating the challenges of securing capital in Pakistan's tough economic environment (Hafeez et al., 2022).

2.4.3 The Role of Incubators in Supporting High-Potential Start-ups

Incubators and accelerators are pivotal in nurturing high-potential start-ups in Pakistan, offering resources that guide these ventures through the critical early stages of development. These start-ups particularly benefit from the tailored support provided by incubators, which includes mentorship, business development services, and access to venture capital (Kehinde Feranmi Awonuga et al., 2024). Such comprehensive support is essential for transforming innovative ideas into viable businesses, especially in resource-constrained environments. Start-ups receiving this support are better equipped to overcome early challenges, scale operations, and achieve sustainable success.

While Pakistani incubators have made significant progress, a comparison with incubators in other countries, such as India, reveals crucial differences affecting start-up success. For example, Indian incubators often offer more extensive post-incubation support, including ongoing mentorship and easier access to follow-on funding—critical for start-ups transitioning from initial stages to scaling

operations (Singh, 2020). This sustained support allows Indian start-ups to maintain momentum and achieve long-term growth.

In contrast, Boogert (2024) argues that many Pakistani incubators struggle to provide consistent support, often due to limited resources and fluctuating access to venture capital. Awan et al. (2024) further illustrate the difficulties Pakistani start-ups face in securing follow-on funding, which is crucial for scaling operations and entering new markets. By adopting strategies from Singh's (2020) study on Indian incubators, such as providing ongoing mentorship and sector-specific guidance, Pakistani incubators could significantly improve their support for start-ups, not just helping them survive but also thrive in a competitive market. Implementing these strategies could substantially increase the success rate of high-potential start-ups in Pakistan, ensuring they are well-prepared to scale and innovate effectively.

2.4.4 The Role of Incubators in impacting the broader economy.

Incubators and accelerators play a critical role in shaping the broader economic landscape of Pakistan by fostering a culture of entrepreneurship that drives economic diversification and growth . These entities not only support individual start-ups but also contribute to the creation of a dynamic entrepreneurial ecosystem, encouraging innovation, risk-taking, and the development of new industries (Singh, 2020). As successful start-ups create jobs and generate revenue, they reduce Pakistan's dependence on traditional sectors like agriculture and textiles, positioning the country as a more competitive player in the global market (Mahmood, Jamil, and Yasir, 2022). Additionally, the success stories from incubated startups inspire other entrepreneurs, further strengthening the ecosystem and promoting sustained economic growth.

The integration of technology and digital platforms has amplified the impact of incubators and accelerators, particularly in environments where physical infrastructure is limited. These platforms enable start-ups to access global networks, resources, and markets, expanding their reach and scaling operations more effectively (Ahmad, Idrus, and Rijal, 2023). Moreover, digital platforms facilitate the exchange of knowledge and best practices across borders, allowing Pakistani startups to learn from global experiences and apply these insights locally. By leveraging technology, incubators can offer targeted support such as virtual mentorship, online pitch sessions, and access to international funding, further enhancing their contribution to the broader economy.

2.4.5 Evolution of Business Incubation in Pakistan

The concept of business incubation in Pakistan is relatively new but has evolved significantly over the past fifty years. Initially, the focus of business incubation was primarily on providing basic support services, such as office space and administrative assistance, to help start-ups get off the ground (Hafeez, Ali and Nawaz, 2021). However, as the entrepreneurial landscape in Pakistan has matured, the role of incubators has expanded to include more comprehensive support mechanisms, such as mentorship, networking opportunities, and access to venture capital (Li et al., 2020). This evolution has been largely driven by economic crises, which have highlighted the need for stronger support systems for start-ups. For instance, during periods of economic downturn, traditional sources of funding, such as banks and government grants, often become less accessible. In response, incubators and accelerators have adapted by developing alternative funding mechanisms, such as connecting start-ups with angel investors and venture capitalists (Mahmood, Jamil, and Yasir, 2022). Additionally, the focus has shifted from merely helping start-ups survive to actively fostering innovation and growth, with the goal of building resilient businesses that can thrive in both stable and unstable economic conditions.

Despite the evolution of business incubation in Pakistan, incubators continue to face significant challenges, including limited funding and cumbersome regulatory processes. Addressing these challenges requires targeted policy interventions and greater collaboration between the public and private sectors. The funding limitations often constrain the ability of incubators to offer sustained support, while regulatory barriers add layers of complexity that can stifle innovation. Overcoming these obstacles is essential for ensuring that incubators can fulfil their potential in nurturing the entrepreneurial ecosystem (Al-Mubaraki et al., 2013).

In addition to fostering traditional start-ups, many incubators in Pakistan are now focusing on social enterprises that address critical societal issues. This shift reflects a broader trend towards inclusive entrepreneurship, ensuring that the benefits of economic growth extend to all segments of society, including marginalized communities. By supporting social enterprises, incubators are promoting inclusivity and contributing to the development of solutions that tackle social challenges, particularly in underserved regions of Pakistan. This focus not only broadens the impact of incubators but also aligns them with global trends in social entrepreneurship, which prioritize sustainable and equitable growth (Alaassar, Mention, and Aas, 2021).

2.4.6 Effectiveness of Incubators and Accelerators in Different Economic Conditions

The effectiveness of incubators and accelerators under varying economic conditions is a subject of debate. Some researchers argue that stable economic environments are essential for these entities to thrive, as they rely on predictability and steady support to function effectively (Al-Mubaraki et al., 2013). In stable conditions, incubators can more easily access the funding, networks, and resources necessary to drive innovation and growth (Busler, 2015).

Conversely, other researchers suggest that incubators and accelerators can adapt and remain effective in unstable economic environments. Puranam et al. (2014) argue that these entities can serve as critical buffers against economic turbulence, providing continuous support to start-ups when traditional economic structures are strained. In Pakistan, where economic conditions are often volatile, the adaptability of incubators is particularly vital. These entities have demonstrated resilience by continuously supporting start-ups during periods of political and economic turmoil, such as during economic downturns caused by political instability and currency fluctuations (Nasar et al., 2019).

However, the long-term sustainability of incubators in Pakistan remains a concern. Many rely heavily on government and donor funding, highlighting the need for self-sustaining financial models (Awan, Sultan and din, 2022). To tackle this Zameer (2020) in his research demonstrates how strategies like taking equity stakes in start-ups, securing corporate sponsorships, or creating revenue-generating programs could provide the financial independence needed for long-term viability.

To assess the effectiveness of incubators and accelerators accurately, broader evaluation metrics are essential. Pattanasak et al (2022) delves into this deeper by discussing how they should include not only start-up survival rates but also job creation, revenue growth, and social impact. Adopting these criteria will help better understand the contributions of these entities to the economy and society, ensuring their role in fostering entrepreneurship is fully recognized and supported.

2.5 Unique contributions of this study

This study aims to fill crucial gaps in understanding the role of incubators and accelerators in unstable economic environments, focusing on Pakistan. Serving as an ideal case study, Pakistan's volatile economy presents a unique opportunity to explore how these support systems function under economic stress. Unlike most research that focuses on stable settings, this study examines how incubators and accelerators adapt and thrive during economic fluctuations, highlighting their strategic importance in maintaining start-up resilience and growth.

Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem, characterized by currency fluctuations, inconsistent policies, and a challenging regulatory environment, offers an optimal setting to assess the effectiveness of these entities during turbulent times. The insights gained could provide valuable lessons not only for Pakistan but also for other developing nations facing similar challenges. By proposing a sustainable framework for entrepreneurial support, this study enhances our understanding of fostering innovation and economic growth in regions where stability is uncertain.

The study also offers targeted recommendations for policymakers and industry practitioners. For policymakers, it outlines strategies to strengthen entrepreneurial ecosystems in volatile environments, such as ensuring consistent government support, incentivizing private sector involvement, and creating robust financial infrastructures to weather economic shocks. For practitioners, it provides practical strategies for effectively leveraging incubators and accelerators to support startups during economic uncertainty.

Furthermore, this research contributes to the academic discourse by addressing a significant gap in the literature on entrepreneurial support systems. While much attention has been given to incubators and accelerators in stable economies, there is a lack of research on their effectiveness in unstable contexts. By focusing on Pakistan, this study not only addresses this gap but also offers new insights into entrepreneurship in developing economies.

Chapter 3: Methodology

3.1 Introduction to Methodology

Building on the insights gained from the literature review, this chapter delves into the methodological framework that underpins this study. Given the complex and multifaceted nature of incubators and accelerators within Pakistan's volatile economic landscape, a carefully structured research design is essential. The methodology outlined here is designed to address the identified gaps in our understanding by employing a qualitative approach that allows for an in-depth exploration of the experiences and challenges faced by these entities.

This chapter begins with a justification for the chosen qualitative research design, emphasizing its suitability for capturing the nuanced dynamics of entrepreneurial ecosystems in unstable environments. It then details the participant selection process, explaining the criteria used to ensure a representative sample of stakeholders, including aspiring and established entrepreneurs. The data collection methods are thoroughly described, highlighting the use of semi-structured interviews to gather rich, context-specific insights.

Ethical considerations are also discussed, with particular attention to the confidentiality and anonymity of participants, given the sensitive nature of the information being collected. Finally, the chapter outlines the data analysis procedures, demonstrating how the data will be systematically examined to identify patterns and themes that can inform both theoretical and practical understandings of the role of incubators and accelerators in supporting entrepreneurship in Pakistan's challenging economic conditions. This comprehensive methodology is critical for ensuring that the study's findings are both valid and reliable, providing a solid foundation for subsequent analysis and recommendations.

3.2 Research Design and Justification

3.2.1 Why Qualitative Research?

The qualitative research strategy is chosen due to its effectiveness in exploring intricate processes, meanings, and relationships within the entrepreneurial ecosystem. While quantitative methods offer valuable statistical insights, they often fall short in capturing the depth and richness of individual experiences—especially in contexts characterized by economic volatility (Polit and Beck, 2010). In Pakistan, where the economic and political landscape is unpredictable, qualitative research provides the flexibility needed to adapt to the complexities of the environment.

3.2.2 Advantages of Qualitative Research in this Study

Bwalya (2017) highlights the effectiveness of qualitative research in examining the outcomes of incubator and accelerator programs, as it allows for a deep understanding of the underlying mechanisms. Similarly, Javadian et al. (2020) emphasize the importance of qualitative research in studying entrepreneurship within unstable environments. This approach offers in-depth exploration, providing detailed insights into how entrepreneurs manage risks in volatile settings. It also facilitates a contextual understanding of the specific challenges and opportunities within the local environment and helps identify adaptive strategies that incubators can use to enhance their support for entrepreneurial ventures.

3.3 Participant Selection and Sampling Strategy

The participant selection process in this study was meticulously designed to capture a comprehensive and representative view of the entrepreneurial ecosystem in Pakistan. This approach was essential for understanding how incubators and accelerators function across different contexts and how they contribute to entrepreneurial success amidst economic instability.

3.3.1 Sampling Strategy

To achieve a well-rounded analysis, this study employed a combination of purposive and convenience sampling techniques. While purposive sampling ensured the inclusion of participants who could provide rich and relevant insights, convenience sampling was utilized to include participants who were readily accessible and willing to participate. Though convenience sampling is sometimes debated for its potential limitations in terms of randomness and generalizability, it was deemed appropriate for this research due to the unique nature of incubators and accelerators in Pakistan, where each offers distinct services tailored to the specific needs of their incubatees. The convenience sampling strategy allowed the researcher to efficiently gather data within the constraints of time and resources while still ensuring a diverse and representative sample (Etikan, Musa, & Alkassim, 2016).

3.3.2 Rationale for Targeting Different Types of Incubators

Participants were selected from large, medium, and small incubators, reflecting the varied landscape of support services available to entrepreneurs in Pakistan:

- Large Incubators: Typically well-resourced, offering extensive support, including international market access.
- Medium Incubators: Provide a balance of support with a localized focus, bridging the gap between local needs and broader opportunities.
- Small Incubators: Often specialized and resource-constrained, offering tailored services in niche markets or underrepresented regions.

3.3.3 Participant Categories:

To gain a comprehensive understanding of the entrepreneurial journey across different incubator contexts, the study selected participants from three distinct categories, with six individuals chosen from each incubator type. These categories were chosen to ensure a well-rounded perspective on the incubation process, from established entrepreneurs to those at the idea stage. Figure 7 illustrates the distribution of these participants by experience level and incubator size. Below is the breakdown of participants across the different types of entrepreneurs included in the study:

Established Entrepreneurs: Six entrepreneurs who successfully scaled their businesses with the help of incubators and accelerators were selected—two from each type of incubator (large, medium, and small). These participants, chosen based on their business growth and the role of incubation in their success, were primarily from key urban centers like Karachi, Lahore, and Islamabad.

Current Incubate Entrepreneurs: To understand ongoing incubation processes, six entrepreneurs currently in various incubation programs were included, with two from each incubator type. This group provided insights into current support mechanisms and challenges, ensuring a representative view across different sectors and business stages.

Aspiring Entrepreneurs: Six individuals at the idea stage, yet to develop a minimum viable product (MVP), were selected—two from each incubator type. This group was crucial for exploring expectations, perceived barriers, and the factors influencing the decision to seek incubation, offering insights into the pre-incubation phase and identifying gaps in support systems for emerging talent.

Code	Experience	Incubator Size	Type of Business	
ENT-1	Established	Large	Tech	
ENT-2	Established	Large	Tech	
ENT-3	Current	Large	Retail	
ENT-4	Current	Large	Tech	
ENT-5	Aspiring	Large	Tech	
ENT-6	Aspiring	Large	Retail	
ENT-7	Established	Medium	Retail	
ENT-8	Established	Medium	Tech	
ENT-9	Current	Medium	Retail	
ENT-10	Current	Medium	Retail	
ENT-11	Aspiring	Medium	Retail	
ENT-12	Aspiring	Medium	Retail	
ENT-13	Established	Small	Tech	
ENT-14	Established	Small	Education	
ENT-15	Current	Small	Retail	
ENT-16	Current	Small	Transport	
ENT-17	Aspiring	Small	Fashion	
ENT-18	Aspiring	Small	Agriculture	

Figure 7: Participant Distribution by Experience Level and Incubator size

3.4 Data Collection Methods

The data for this study were collected primarily through semi-structured interviews, chosen for their ability to elicit rich, in-depth information on the entrepreneurial ecosystem in Pakistan. This method allows for open-ended questions that enable participants to discuss their experiences and insights freely while still adhering to the study's main research objectives.

3.4.1 Interview Process

The interviews were conducted online, utilizing platforms such as Zoom and Microsoft Teams. This approach was selected due to the geographical spread of participants across Pakistan and the flexibility it offered in scheduling. Each interview lasted approximately 30 minutes, which provided sufficient time to explore participants' perspectives while respecting their time constraints.

3.4.2 Recording and Transcription

With the consent of the participants, all interviews were recorded. The recordings were then transcribed verbatim to ensure accuracy and completeness in capturing the data. This process was essential for conducting a thorough analysis of the collected data.

3.5 Data Analysis

The data analysis for this study was conducted using thematic analysis, supported by NVivo (version 14.24) software, to systematically uncover patterns and themes within the interview data. This process delved deeply into the interconnectedness of the entrepreneurial network, highlighting how different incubators and accelerators contributed to the ecosystem's dynamics and resilience. NVivo's robust capabilities facilitated the organization and coding of qualitative data, making it easier to identify significant themes and relationships.

Main categories	Themes	Codes	
	Effectiveness of Incubators During Downturns	 Need for robust financial assistance Demand for crisis management programs 	
	The Role of Mentorship and Networking	 Dependence on Experienced Mentors Limited Networking Opportunities 	
Policy and support	Adaptability of Incubators to Change	 Necessity for Specialized Support Resource Gaps in Retaining Mature Startups 	
	Comparative Perceptions of Support	Preference for personalized mentorship Need for stable legal frameworks	
	Challenges and Limitations of Incubators	 Reliance on government for infrastructure Resource constraints in smaller incubators 	
Financa	Importance of Financial Planning	 Critical role of financial management Pricing strategy optimization 	
Finance	Challenges in Accessing Funding	Limited funding opportunitiesDifficulty in scaling businesses	
Culture	Mentorship and Knowledge Sharing	 Value of personalized mentorship Strategic advice from experienced mentors 	
Culture	Building a Collaborative Environment	 Importance of cross-business partnerships Networking events facilitating growth 	
Human Capital	Market Access Through Incubators	 Facilitation of Access to International Markets Challenges in Expanding internationaly 	
and Market	Human Capital Development	 Importance of Comprehensive Training Programs Limited Access to Specialized Expertise 	

Figure 8: Thematic Analysis of Interview Data: Key Themes and Supporting Codes Across the Entrepreneurial Ecosystem

In line with the study's qualitative approach, the interview data were meticulously analysed to identify key themes across several factors of the entrepreneurial ecosystem, including Finance, Culture, Supports, Human Capital, and Markets. As illustrated in Figure 8, the data revealed recurring themes, with a greater number of insights emerging in areas such as Support and Finance, reflecting their critical importance to entrepreneurs during economic instability. These themes provide a structured

understanding of how incubators contribute to the entrepreneurial ecosystem in Pakistan, particularly in the context of economic instability.

By integrating the entrepreneurial ecosystem theory into the analytical process, the study aimed to reveal the complex interactions and resource exchanges within Pakistan's entrepreneurial environment, particularly under conditions of economic instability (Collins and Stockton, 2018). This approach ensured that the analysis captured the multifaceted nature of the entrepreneurial ecosystem, providing insights into how various elements influenced and supported each other. The thematic analysis focused on identifying key adaptive strategies employed by entrepreneurs, the role of different incubator sizes in fostering resilience, and the overall impact of economic fluctuations on entrepreneurial success. This comprehensive analysis offered a detailed understanding of the strategic roles played by incubators and accelerators in supporting entrepreneurial ventures in Pakistan's challenging economic landscape.

3.6 Ethical Considerations

Ensuring ethical integrity was paramount in conducting this research involving human participants. The study adhered to strict ethical guidelines to protect the rights and well-being of all participants. Prior to each interview, participants were fully informed about the study's purpose, procedures, and their rights, including the right to withdraw at any time without facing any negative consequences. Informed consent was obtained from all participants, ensuring they understood and agreed to the terms of their involvement.

Confidentiality was rigorously maintained throughout the research. All personal identifiers were removed, and data were anonymized to protect participants' privacy. The interview recordings, transcripts, and any related data were securely stored, accessible only to the research team. Participants were assured that their responses would be used solely for academic purposes and that their identities would not be disclosed in any publications or presentations resulting from this study.

Furthermore, this research complied with the ethical standards set by institutional review boards and relevant professional organizations. Any potential conflicts of interest were transparently addressed, and the study strived to minimize any potential harm or discomfort to participants. The project was granted ethics and data protection clearance according to standard IGP and UCL protocols. This study was registered under the reference number Z6364106/2024/07/04 for social research in line with UCL's Data Protection Policy.

By adhering to these ethical principles, the study upheld the highest standards of research integrity, ensuring the respectful and fair treatment of all participants.

Chapter 4: Findings and Discussions

4.1 Introduction

In navigating the complexities of entrepreneurship, particularly within the volatile economic landscape of Pakistan, the Entrepreneurial Ecosystem Framework emerges as a powerful analytical tool. This framework, originally developed by Daniel Isenberg, provides a comprehensive lens for understanding and analysing the complex nature of entrepreneurial ecosystems, focusing on six critical domains: policy, finance, culture, supports, human capital, and markets. This approach enables a holistic examination of the factors that contribute to the success or failure of entrepreneurial ventures.

The selection of the Entrepreneurial Ecosystem Framework for this study is not arbitrary but rather a deliberate choice grounded in its ability to capture the interconnectedness of different factors within an ecosystem. Unlike more narrow frameworks that might focus solely on economic or social factors, this model recognizes the importance of both formal and informal networks, the availability of resources, and the broader cultural and regulatory context. This is particularly crucial in a country like Pakistan, where entrepreneurship is influenced by a unique blend of challenges, including political instability, limited access to capital, and varying levels of institutional support.

The framework's strength lies in its adaptability to different contexts and its emphasis on the dynamic interactions between various ecosystem components. This makes it particularly suitable for analyzing the diverse experiences of entrepreneurs within large, medium, and small incubators in Pakistan. By applying this framework, the study can systematically explore how different elements of the ecosystem interact to support or hinder entrepreneurial activity, providing insights that are both specific to the Pakistani context and applicable to other developing economies facing similar challenges.

4.2 Mapping Research Questions to Findings

To clarify how each section of this chapter addresses the central research questions posed in this study, Table 1(Appendix) maps each research question and sub-question to the specific sections and themes discussed in the findings and discussion. This mapping ensures that the analysis remains closely aligned with the research objectives, offering a structured approach to exploring how incubators and accelerators function within Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem during periods of economic instability.

In this section, the findings from the semi-structured interviews will be presented and discussed through the lens of the Entrepreneurial Ecosystem Framework (Figure 9). This structure will allow for a thorough examination of how incubators of different sizes contribute to and interact with the broader entrepreneurial ecosystem in Pakistan. Through this analysis, the study aims to identify key strengths and gaps within the ecosystem, offering actionable insights for enhancing the support provided to entrepreneurs in a challenging economic environment.



Figure 9: Entrepreneurial Ecosystem Framework (Isenberg, 2011)

4.3 Policy and Support

4.3.1 Policy Landscape and the Role of Support Structures in Entrepreneurship

Government policies in Pakistan have historically shaped the entrepreneurial landscape, but economic instability—marked by inflation, currency depreciation, and inconsistent enforcement—has often undermined their effectiveness. Recognizing the close interrelation between policy frameworks and the support structures necessary for start-ups, this section combines the analysis of both elements to provide a holistic view. This approach acknowledges that incubators and accelerators not only navigate but also supplement policy deficiencies through their support mechanisms.

This section addresses the central research question by exploring whether incubators and accelerators can effectively fill the gaps left by government support, particularly during economic downturns. As fiscal and administrative challenges persist, these entrepreneurial support structures become increasingly vital, potentially compensating for deficiencies in government mechanisms. By

combining the analysis of policy and support, this section assesses whether incubators and accelerators can serve as viable substitutes for government interventions, focusing on their adaptability during economic instability and their ability to offer a sustainable framework for entrepreneurship in Pakistan.

4.3.2 Findings on Government Support Perceptions (Policy and Support)

To assess the effectiveness of incubators versus government support, the study involved 18 participants, segmented into established entrepreneurs, current incubatees, and aspiring entrepreneurs. Participants provided insights on their perceptions of these support systems, particularly during economic downturns.

Main categories	Themes	Codes
	Effectiveness of Incubators During Downturns	 Need for robust financial assistance Demand for crisis management programs
	The Role of Mentorship and Networking	 Dependence on Experienced Mentors Limited Networking Opportunities
Policy and support	Adaptability of Incubators to Change	 Necessity for Specialized Support Resource Gaps in Retaining Mature Startups
	Comparative Perceptions of Support	 Preference for personalized mentorship Need for stable legal frameworks
	Challenges and Limitations of Incubators	 Reliance on government for infrastructure Resource constraints in smaller incubators

Figure 10: Thematic analysis of policy and support

4.3.2.1 Theme 1: Perceived Effectiveness of Incubators During Economic Downturns

A significant portion of respondents (14 out of 18) emphasized the critical role that incubators play during economic downturns. Entrepreneurs noted that while incubators provide essential support, their effectiveness could be further enhanced through more robust financial assistance and specialized crisis management programs. For instance, ENT-1 from a large incubator stressed the importance of initiatives focused on crisis management and international market access to help start-ups navigate local economic challenges. Similarly, ENT-2 from a large incubator highlighted the need for expanding international market access and offering crisis management training.

Among those involved with large incubators, five out of six participants underscored the importance of implementing crisis management programs and facilitating access to international markets. However, ENT-6 differed, stressing the need for more localized support tailored to Pakistan's unique challenges, reflecting a nuanced understanding that while global strategies are vital, addressing local market dynamics is equally crucial. For medium-sized incubators, ENT-7 and ENT-8 advocated for targeted financial support and the development of contingency planning workshops. ENT-9 and ENT-10 emphasized the need for stronger mentorship programs to better equip entrepreneurs. As ENT-9 noted, "Targeted financial support and contingency workshops are essential for preparing start-ups to weather economic instability."

Participants from small incubators, including ENT-13 and ENT-14, predominantly focused on expanding funding options and strengthening ties with larger incubators and investors. ENT-13 highlighted the need for collaborating with government agencies to provide stability and resources that small incubators often lack. This indicates that while incubators play a significant role during economic downturns, there is a consistent call across all sizes of incubators for enhanced financial support and specialized training.

4.3.2.2 Theme 2: The Role of Mentorship and Networking in Business Growth

A common thread among the participants was the critical role that mentorship and networking opportunities within incubators play in their business growth. Thirteen out of eighteen respondents emphasized that access to experienced mentors and strategic networking was indispensable for refining business models, improving operational efficiency, and expanding market reach.

For instance, ENT-3 from a large incubator noted, "The mentorship we received from industry veterans provided us with insights that were pivotal for navigating market challenges and scaling our operations." Similarly, ENT-12 highlighted how networking events organized by incubators facilitated partnerships that directly contributed to increased customer acquisition and revenue growth. These connections not only opened doors to new markets but also allowed start-ups to tap into a wealth of knowledge and resources that would have been otherwise inaccessible.

However, the scale and effectiveness of mentorship and networking varied across different incubators. Participants from smaller incubators, such as ENT-14 and ENT-15, pointed out the limited scope of networking opportunities within their programs, which constrained their ability to secure larger investments or establish connections with key industry players. ENT-15 stated, "While the mentorship was valuable, the lack of broader networking opportunities limited our growth potential." This suggests that while mentorship and networking are crucial elements of incubator support, their impact is often determined by the incubator's size and resource availability.

4.3.2.3 Theme 3: Adaptability of Incubators to the Changing Needs of Start-ups

As start-ups progress from the ideation phase to scaling and beyond, their needs evolve significantly, requiring incubators to provide more specialized and tailored support. Many respondents (12 out of

18) highlighted the importance of incubators' ability to adapt their support as start-ups mature and face new challenges.

ENT-4 from a large incubator noted, "Our needs changed drastically as we grew, and the ability of our incubator to adapt their mentorship and resources to these changing needs was critical to our continued success." This sentiment was echoed by ENT-8, who mentioned that while the early-stage support was excellent, there was a gap in the resources available to more mature start-ups, particularly those looking to scale internationally.

For medium-sized incubators, participants like ENT-10 pointed out that "the one-size-fits-all approach of some incubators doesn't work for start-ups that are further along in their development. We needed more specialized advice and access to international networks, which weren't as readily available." This suggests a need for incubators to evolve their offerings to include more advanced mentorship, access to global markets, and industry-specific resources as start-ups grow.

Entrepreneurs from smaller incubators also noted challenges in this area. ENT-13 expressed that "while the incubator was instrumental in our early days, as we began to scale, we found that the support available was no longer sufficient. We had to seek additional resources outside of the incubator to continue our growth." This highlights the limitations that smaller incubators face in retaining start-ups as they grow, due to their often-limited resources and networks.

These insights suggest that for incubators to remain effective and relevant, they must continuously adapt their services to meet the evolving needs of start-ups. This could involve developing more advanced support systems for later-stage start-ups, fostering connections with international markets, and tailoring resources to specific industries or business stages.

4.3.2.4 Theme 4: Comparative Perceptions of Government Support vs. Incubator Support

When comparing the support provided by incubators versus government programs, 16 out of 18 participants expressed a preference for the hands-on, practical assistance offered by incubators. This preference was particularly pronounced among those affiliated with large incubators, where participants like ENT-3 highlighted the impact of personalized mentorship and targeted resources during the early stages of business development. As ENT-3 remarked, "Incubators provide more immediate and practical guidance compared to the often bureaucratic and less personalized government support."

However, despite this preference for incubator support, 13 participants, including ENT-7, acknowledged that incubators could not fully replace the foundational support provided by government policies, particularly in areas like infrastructure and policy stability. ENT-7 emphasized

that "government plays a crucial role in creating a stable legal and regulatory environment, something that incubators alone cannot fulfil." This highlights the complementary roles that incubators and government policies play in fostering a stable entrepreneurial ecosystem.

Among the established entrepreneurs, five out of six found the practical guidance from incubators to be more effective but still recognized the critical role of government infrastructure. ENT-2 underscored the need for government-backed legal stability, pointing out that "long-term success requires the foundational support that only government policies can provide."

Similarly, among the current incubatees, ENT-3 and ENT-9 valued the immediate support from incubators but noted that long-term stability is contingent on government support. ENT-15 emphasized the need for "Governmental policies and infrastructure provide a foundational and long-term stability that incubators complement but cannot entirely substitute".

Most aspiring entrepreneurs shared viewpoints similar to current incubatees, emphasizing the dependency of incubators on governmental support. However, ENT-11 provided a unique perspective, highlighting the importance of strengthening networks and financial collaborations to enhance the support provided by incubators. As ENT-11 noted, "To ensure long-term stability and growth, there is a pressing need for stronger networks and financial collaborations to supplement the support that incubators offer.

4.3.2.5 Theme 5: Challenges and Limitations of Incubators

While incubators were praised by most respondents for their practical support, half of the participants highlighted challenges related to the scale and scope of incubators. Established entrepreneurs from smaller incubators like ENT-13 and ENT-14 frequently mentioned resource limitations as a significant barrier to matching the infrastructure that government support could provide. ENT-13 remarked, "Resource constraints make it difficult for small incubators to provide the comprehensive support that start-ups need, especially during economic downturns."

Participants from medium-sized incubators such as ENT-9 and ENT-10 similarly noted that while they received personalized and practical support, the limited scale of resources often hindered their ability to address broader challenges effectively. ENT-9 stated, "The support is invaluable, but without the necessary resources, it's challenging to scale solutions to meet broader economic challenges."

Even among large incubators, four out of six participants, including ENT-1 and ENT-2, recognized their reliance on government support for long-term infrastructure and policy stability. ENT-1 stated, "While large incubators provide substantial support, they still rely on government infrastructure for

sustained growth." The remaining participants, ENT-4 and ENT-6, suggested that stronger ties with private sector partners could enhance incubator effectiveness, emphasizing the need for a more collaborative approach.

These findings illustrate the complex interplay between incubators and government support, highlighting the significant but limited role that incubators play in substituting for government policies, especially during periods of economic instability.

4.3.3 Discussion:

4.3.3.1 The Role of Incubators in Addressing Governmental Gaps in Pakistan's Entrepreneurial Ecosystem

The entrepreneurial landscape in Pakistan is characterized by numerous challenges, including bureaucratic inefficiencies, limited access to capital, and inconsistent policy support. These issues are particularly pronounced during periods of economic instability, where start-ups find themselves navigating an even more precarious environment. In this context, incubators and accelerators have emerged as critical players, stepping in to bridge the gaps left by inadequate governmental support. The findings illustrate the complex interplay between incubators and government support, highlighting the significant but limited role that incubators play in substituting for government policies, especially during periods of economic instability. In evaluating the substitutive capacity of incubators, the central research question remains at the forefront: Can incubators fully replace governmental support in stabilizing the entrepreneurial ecosystem? The findings suggest that while they are crucial, their ability to fully replace government support is inherently limited.

4.3.3.2 The Strategic Role of Incubators During Economic Downturns

Economic downturns often amplify the vulnerabilities within an entrepreneurial ecosystem, exposing start-ups to heightened risks such as reduced funding opportunities, market uncertainties, and operational challenges. Traditional government support mechanisms, hindered by bureaucratic delays and inflexibility, frequently fall short in addressing these immediate and evolving needs of start-ups. Incubators, with their agile and responsive structures, step into this void by offering timely and tailored support that is crucial for the survival and adaptation of start-ups during such turbulent times.

These entities provide a range of services including emergency advisory support, rapid pivot strategies, and connections to alternative markets and funding sources. Their ability to quickly assess and respond to the specific challenges faced by start-ups allows them to mitigate some of the adverse effects of economic instability. For instance, incubators can facilitate access to international networks and markets, providing start-ups with opportunities to diversify their customer base and revenue streams when local markets are underperforming.

However, while incubators play a significant role in providing immediate and specialized support, their capacity is not limitless. The effectiveness of their interventions is often constrained by their own resource limitations, scalability challenges, and the broader economic environment. Unlike government institutions, incubators may lack the extensive reach and authority to effect systemic changes necessary for long-term economic stability and infrastructure development. Thus, while they can provide crucial support during crises, their ability to fully substitute for comprehensive governmental support remains inherently limited.

4.3.3.3. Mentorship and Networking: Pillars of Incubator Effectiveness

Mentorship and networking opportunities constitute core components of the support structure offered by incubators, addressing critical needs that are often unmet by government programs. Through access to experienced mentors and extensive professional networks, incubators equip entrepreneurs with the knowledge, skills, and connections necessary to navigate complex business landscapes and accelerate growth.

In practice, the quality and breadth of mentorship and networking support vary significantly across different incubators. Established incubators with robust resources and networks can offer high-calibre mentorship programs and facilitate connections with key industry stakeholders, investors, and potential partners. These relationships are instrumental in providing start-ups with strategic guidance, industry insights, and opportunities for collaboration and investment that might otherwise be inaccessible.

Conversely, smaller or less-resourced incubators may struggle to provide the same level of support, often due to limited access to experienced mentors and narrower networks. This disparity highlights a critical limitation in the ability of some incubators to fully compensate for the absence of comprehensive governmental support structures. Start-ups associated with these incubators may find themselves at a disadvantage, lacking the mentorship and networking opportunities necessary to overcome challenges and scale effectively.

Despite these limitations, incubators continue to play a vital role in filling mentorship and networking gaps, particularly by fostering communities of practice where entrepreneurs can share experiences, resources, and support. These collaborative environments contribute to building resilient and adaptive entrepreneurial ecosystems, even in the absence of robust governmental backing.

4.3.3.4 Adaptability of Incubators to the Evolving Needs of Start-ups

The dynamic nature of start-up development necessitates support systems that are flexible and adaptable to changing needs across different stages of growth. Incubators demonstrate strength in this area by tailoring their services to address the evolving challenges faced by start-ups, from ideation and product development to market entry and expansion.

Effective incubators continuously assess and adjust their support offerings, incorporating feedback and adapting to market trends to remain relevant and impactful. This includes developing specialized programs that cater to various industries, integrating emerging technologies, and addressing specific operational challenges such as regulatory compliance and supply chain management.

However, the capacity for adaptability is not uniform across all incubators. Resource constraints, limited expertise, and rigid program structures can impede some incubators' ability to adjust their services effectively. Additionally, in the face of widespread economic instability, even adaptable incubators may struggle to provide adequate support without the foundational stability and infrastructural provisions that typically fall within the government's purview.

These challenges underscore the fact that while incubators are instrumental in supporting start-ups through tailored and flexible services, their ability to fully replace the comprehensive and systemic support traditionally provided by government remains constrained. The sustainability and success of start-ups often depend on a broader ecosystem that includes stable economic policies, infrastructure development, and access to public services, which are beyond the direct influence of incubators.

4.3.3.5 Addressing the Challenges and Limitations of Incubators

Despite their proactive and supportive roles, incubators face significant challenges that limit their ability to entirely compensate for governmental shortcomings. Resource limitations, including funding, expert personnel, and infrastructure, often restrict the scale and scope of support that incubators can provide. Economic downturns exacerbate these limitations by tightening budgets and increasing the demand for support services among struggling start-ups.

Furthermore, incubators may encounter difficulties in sustaining long-term support for start-ups, particularly in providing extensive market access and large-scale funding opportunities that are more readily facilitated through government channels or large financial institutions. The absence of supportive policies and regulatory frameworks can also hinder incubators' efforts, as start-ups may face systemic barriers that require governmental intervention to resolve.

To navigate these challenges, incubators often innovate by diversifying their funding sources, forming strategic partnerships within the private sector, and leveraging technology to expand their reach and

efficiency. While these strategies can enhance their capacity to support start-ups, they may not fully bridge the gaps left by insufficient governmental support, particularly in areas requiring large-scale investment and policy reforms.

4.3.4 Evaluating the Substitutive Capacity of Incubators

The examination of incubators' roles in Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem reveals that while they provide critical and multifaceted support to start-ups, their ability to fully substitute for comprehensive governmental support is inherently limited. Incubators excel in offering agile, tailored, and immediate assistance, particularly in mentorship, networking, and adaptive services that address the specific and evolving needs of entrepreneurs. These contributions are vital for start-up survival and growth, especially amid economic instability.

However, the scope and impact of incubator support are constrained by resource limitations, scalability challenges, and the absence of systemic infrastructural and policy support that typically falls within the government's domain. Start-ups require a stable and conducive business environment, access to substantial funding, and supportive regulatory frameworks to achieve sustainable success—elements that incubators alone cannot comprehensively provide.

Therefore, while incubators play an indispensable role in supporting entrepreneurs and mitigating some effects of inadequate governmental support, they cannot entirely replace the foundational functions and systemic support that effective government intervention offers. Recognizing the complementary nature of these roles is essential for understanding and enhancing the resilience and dynamism of Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem. Ensuring the development of both robust incubator programs and effective governmental support structures remains crucial for fostering sustained entrepreneurial success and economic growth in the country.

4.4 Finance

4.4.1 Financial Challenges and the Role of Incubators in Supporting Start-ups

In Pakistan's turbulent economic landscape, securing financial resources stands as a pivotal factor for the success and sustainability of start-ups. This section examines the central research question by analysing how incubators and accelerators have addressed financial challenges and whether they can serve as a viable alternative to government support in this domain.

As economic uncertainties continue to loom, the financial support provided by incubators and accelerators has become increasingly vital. These institutions not only offer the essential funding needed to sustain start-ups but also provide strategic financial guidance, helping entrepreneurs to navigate the complexities of economic instability. By exploring the experiences of established entrepreneurs, current incubatees, and aspiring entrepreneurs, this section aims to evaluate whether incubators and accelerators can effectively bridge the financial gaps left by insufficient government intervention. The analysis will focus on how these support mechanisms have adapted to the financial challenges posed by economic instability and assess their potential to offer a sustainable financial framework for fostering entrepreneurship in Pakistan.

4.4.2 Findings on Financial Support and Planning in Incubators

To assess the effectiveness of financial planning and support provided by incubators, the study involved 18 participants segmented into established entrepreneurs, current incubatees, and aspiring entrepreneurs. The participants shared their experiences with financial management within incubators, highlighting both the benefits and limitations of the support they received.

Main categories	Themes	Codes	
Financo	Importance of Financial Planning	 Critical role of financial management Pricing strategy optimization 	
Finance	Challenges in Accessing Funding	Limited funding opportunitiesDifficulty in scaling businesses	



4.4.2.1 Theme 1: Importance of Financial Planning

A substantial portion of respondents (14 out of 18) emphasized the critical importance of financial planning in navigating the economic challenges that start-up's face in Pakistan. Entrepreneurs consistently noted that while incubators provide essential support in financial management, the effectiveness of this assistance could be significantly enhanced through more tailored financial strategies and deeper access to funding opportunities.

For instance, ENT-1 from a large incubator, noted that connecting with financial experts and investors was crucial for securing funding during challenging times. They explained, "The strategic advice on financial planning helped us adapt our business model to better withstand economic instability." This sentiment was echoed by ENT-2, who underscored the importance of strategic financial management in maintaining business stability amidst fluctuating economic conditions.

Among those involved with large incubators, five out of six participants underscored the necessity of comprehensive financial planning support. However, ENT-6 highlighted the need for more localized financial strategies tailored to the specific challenges faced by businesses in Pakistan. This reflects a nuanced understanding that while broad financial guidance is valuable, addressing the unique financial dynamics of the local market is equally important.

In medium-sized incubators, participants like ENT-7 and ENT-8 advocated for more targeted financial support, such as workshops on financial management and pricing strategy optimization. ENT-9 and ENT-10 emphasized the need for more robust mentorship programs to better equip entrepreneurs to handle financial challenges. As ENT-9 noted, "Incubators can enhance their support by offering more robust financial assistance programs and improving connections with international investors allowing incubatees to handle economic instability".

Participants from small incubators, including ENT-13 and ENT-14, predominantly focused on expanding funding options and strengthening connections with larger incubators and investors. Given the limited resources and connections characteristic of smaller incubators, ENT-13 emphasized the importance of partnering with government agencies to secure the stability and resources that small incubators often struggle to provide. ENT-13 noted that 'collaborating with government agencies could offer the stability and resources that are crucially needed by smaller incubators.

These findings indicate that while financial planning support from incubators is invaluable, there is a consistent call across all sizes of incubators for enhanced and more specialized financial strategies to better equip entrepreneurs for economic challenges.

4.4.2.2 Theme 2: Challenges in Accessing Funding and Barriers for Aspiring Entrepreneurs

Access to funding emerged as a significant challenge for start-ups across all stages of development, particularly during economic downturns. Despite the support provided by incubators, many participants expressed difficulties in securing adequate financial resources to sustain and grow their businesses. This issue was further compounded by the high competition for limited funding within incubators, creating substantial barriers for aspiring entrepreneurs.

ENT-2 from a large incubator, highlighted that "the networking opportunities provided by The Nest I/O were critical in helping us secure funding from multiple sources," which helped mitigate financial risks. However, even with this support, they found it challenging to scale their business due to limited access to larger funding pools. Similarly, ENT-9 from a medium-sized incubator, noted that while local partnerships facilitated by the incubator were beneficial, international funding remains a challenge, which is crucial for their long-term growth. These insights underline the ongoing difficulties in accessing substantial financial resources, even with incubator assistance.

The issue of high competition for funding was particularly pronounced among aspiring entrepreneurs, who often struggled to gain entry into incubator programs. ENT-6 from a large incubator remarked, "The main barriers include high competition for limited slots and the complexity of the application process" highlighting the barriers to accessing the financial support essential for start-up survival and growth. Building on this point, ENT-18 from a smaller incubator noted that "the lack of a well-established network compared to more prestigious universities like LUMS and IBA highlights the gaps in support", illustrating that the challenges for smaller incubators go beyond competition, as they also lack the strong networks that institutions like LUMS and IBA possess.

These findings underscore the need for more extensive financial resources and opportunities within the entrepreneurial ecosystem, as well as the importance of reducing barriers to entry for aspiring entrepreneurs. Enhanced financial planning support, broader access to funding, and more inclusive incubator programs could help mitigate these challenges, ensuring that both established and aspiring entrepreneurs have the resources they need to thrive in Pakistan's volatile economic environment.

4.4.3 Discussion

4.4.3.1 Financial Planning and Funding Challenges in the Context of Economic Instability

The role of financial planning in the sustainability and growth of start-up's is crucial, particularly in the volatile economic environment of Pakistan. Financial management is a cornerstone of entrepreneurial success, yet many start-ups face significant challenges in this area, exacerbated by fluctuating economic conditions. Incubators, as key players in the entrepreneurial ecosystem, have stepped in to provide essential financial planning support. However, the effectiveness of this support varies widely and is closely linked to the size, resources, and networks of the incubator, which significantly influence the quality and scope of financial guidance available to entrepreneurs. The findings suggest that economic instability in Pakistan is not just a macroeconomic issue; it directly impacts the micro-level dynamics of entrepreneurship. This discussion critically evaluates the central research question: Are incubators equipped to substitute for government financial support? While they provide essential financial assistance, their limitations indicate that they cannot fully replace the comprehensive support that a stable government could offer.

4.4.3.2 The Impact of Incubator Size on Financial Planning Support

Large incubators, such as the National Incubation Centre (NIC) and The Nest I/O, are distinguished by their ability to offer comprehensive financial planning services. These incubators utilize their extensive networks to connect start-ups with financial experts and investors, offering strategic financial advice that is crucial for navigating economic challenges. This access to resources enables start-ups to adapt their business models, secure necessary funding, and develop strategies to enhance their resilience against economic pressures.

The study highlights that the scale of the incubator significantly influences the effectiveness of the financial support provided. Large incubators, with their broad networks and substantial resources, are well-equipped to offer in-depth financial strategies that can help or increase the probability of start-ups to weather financial instability. In contrast, smaller incubators often struggle to provide the same level of support due to limited resources and connections. This disparity creates a significant gap in the financial management support available to start-ups, particularly those associated with smaller incubators.

Moreover, the need for localized financial strategies tailored to the unique challenges of the Pakistani market further complicates the situation for smaller incubators. Participants from smaller incubators reported difficulties in accessing specialized financial advice that considers the specific economic and regulatory conditions in Pakistan. This gap in localized support underscores the need for incubators to

develop financial planning services that are not only comprehensive but also contextually relevant, ensuring that start-ups receive the guidance they need to thrive in the local market.

4.4.3.3 Challenges in Accessing Funding and Rising Competition

The study reveals the growing challenges entrepreneurs face in accessing funding, particularly due to increased competition within incubators. Economic instability in Pakistan has led to tighter financial resources for incubators, which in turn has reduced the number of available slots for new start-ups. This scarcity has intensified competition, making it more difficult for aspiring entrepreneurs to secure the necessary support.

This heightened competition has significant implications for Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem. The limited availability of incubator slots not only hampers the growth potential of start-ups but also creates substantial barriers for new entrants, especially those without established networks or significant capital. The rigorous application processes and stringent eligibility criteria further exacerbate these challenges, allowing only a select few entrepreneurs to benefit from the limited resources.

The findings suggest that economic instability in Pakistan is not just a macroeconomic issue but directly impacts the micro-level dynamics of entrepreneurship. The combination of reduced funding and increased competition for incubator slots creates an environment where opportunities are scarce and barriers to entry are high, stifling innovation and restricting access to necessary support.

4.4.3.4 Evaluating the Financial Substitutive Capacity of Incubators

In conclusion, the study reveals that while large incubators in Pakistan are better equipped to provide critical financial support, their advantages are often offset by intense competition for limited resources, leaving many entrepreneurs without access to these essential services. Smaller incubators, constrained by limited resources and networks, struggle to offer comparable financial guidance, creating significant challenges for start-ups in need.

These findings highlight that while incubators play a vital role in providing financial planning support, their ability to fully substitute for the comprehensive financial backing that might be expected from more robust governmental support is limited. The disparities in resource availability and the intense competition for incubator slots suggest that while incubators can alleviate some of the financial challenges faced by start-ups, they cannot entirely replace the systemic financial support that a stable economic environment and supportive government policies would provide.

Therefore, while incubators are indispensable in offering immediate and tailored financial assistance, their role in providing a complete substitute for governmental financial support remains constrained. Ensuring that start-ups have access to the necessary financial resources for sustainable growth requires acknowledging the limitations of incubators and understanding that they operate within a broader ecosystem that includes economic stability and institutional support.

4.5 Culture

4.5.1 Entrepreneurial Culture and the Role of Incubators in Shaping Start-up Resilience

In Pakistan's turbulent economic landscape, where traditional government support often falls short, it is crucial to understand how entrepreneurs perceive the role of incubators in shaping the entrepreneurial culture. This section addresses the central research question by exploring whether incubators can foster a resilient and innovative entrepreneurial culture in the absence of robust government support.

Incubators play a key role in nurturing this culture by offering not just resources, but also a space where ideas can thrive despite external economic pressures. However, as government support becomes increasingly unreliable, the ability of incubators to maintain a strong, positive culture among start-ups is put to the test. This section explores how incubators contribute to the entrepreneurial culture in Pakistan, particularly during economic downturns, and examines whether they can sustain this cultural impact in the absence of robust government support. Through the lens of entrepreneurs' experiences, we assess the effectiveness of incubators in cultivating a supportive and resilient entrepreneurial culture that can withstand the challenges posed by economic instability.

4.5.2 Findings on the Role of Incubators in Shaping Entrepreneurial Culture

To explore how incubators influence the entrepreneurial culture in Pakistan, particularly during periods of economic instability, this study engaged 18 participants, segmented into established entrepreneurs, current incubatees, and aspiring entrepreneurs. Their perspectives provide insights into how future perceptions of incubators influence risk-taking and overall entrepreneurial behaviour within the ecosystem.

Main categories	Themes	Codes
Culture	Mentorship and Knowledge Sharing	 Value of personalized mentorship Strategic advice from experienced mentors
Culture	Building a Collaborative Environment	 Importance of cross-business partnerships Networking events facilitating growth



4.5.2.1 Theme 1: Future Role of Incubators in Pakistan's Entrepreneurial Ecosystem

A significant portion of participants emphasized the pivotal role that incubators are expected to play in fostering innovation and supporting sustainable business growth in Pakistan. As the entrepreneurial ecosystem matures, many entrepreneurs believe that incubators will become increasingly critical in nurturing start-ups and driving economic resilience.

For instance, ENT-1 from a large incubator noted that incubators would be essential in providing the necessary support for start-ups to grow and adapt in challenging economic environments. Similarly, ENT-2, another entrepreneur from a large incubator, emphasized that the role of incubators would expand beyond just support to include advocacy for regulatory reforms and enhanced global market connections.

Participants from medium-sized incubators, such as ENT-7 and ENT-8, highlighted the growing need for structured support and mentorship provided by incubators. They believe that as the start-up landscape evolves, incubators will be crucial in bridging the gap between innovative ideas and successful businesses, particularly by helping entrepreneurs navigate economic challenges.

Aspiring entrepreneurs, like ENT-17 from a small incubator, recognized the critical future role of incubators but noted that their effectiveness would depend on their ability to expand networks and integrate more closely with national and international markets. This perspective underscores the need for incubators to evolve and overcome current limitations to meet the growing demands of the entrepreneurial ecosystem.

4.5.2.2 Theme 2: Perceptions of Incubators' Role in Supporting Risk-Taking

Entrepreneurs consistently highlighted the role of incubators in shaping the willingness to take risks, which is crucial for driving innovation. Incubators are perceived as essential for providing the resources, mentorship, and networking opportunities that enable entrepreneurs to take calculated risks, particularly during economic instability.

ENT-11 from a medium-sized incubator emphasized that incubators are crucial for startups to transform ideas into successful ventures, particularly in environments where traditional support systems may be lacking. This sentiment was echoed by ENT-13, who pointed out that the mentorship and structured support offered by incubators are indispensable for start-ups navigating the uncertainties of the Pakistani market.

However, some participants, especially those from smaller incubators, noted that the ability to take risks varies significantly depending on the incubator's size and resources. For instance, ENT-18 remarked that while incubators play an essential role, their impact on encouraging risk-taking can

vary significantly depending on the incubator's development and available resources. This highlights the challenges faced by smaller incubators in providing the same level of support for risk-taking as their larger counterparts.

4.5.3 Discussion

4.5.3.1 The Future Role of Incubators and Its Impact on Entrepreneurial Culture

The findings from this study underscore the increasingly vital role that incubators play in shaping the entrepreneurial culture in Pakistan, particularly as the country's start-up ecosystem matures. Incubators are positioned to be key drivers of innovation, providing structured support and fostering sustainable business growth. However, their ability to influence risk-taking behaviours among entrepreneurs is closely tied to their size, resources, and adaptability to the evolving needs of the entrepreneurial community.

4.5.3.2 The Role of Incubators in Encouraging Risk-Taking Amid Economic Instability

In an environment marked by economic instability, incubators are expected to play a crucial role in providing the confidence and resources necessary for entrepreneurs to take calculated risks. Large incubators, such as the National Incubation Centre (NIC) and The Nest I/O, are particularly well-equipped to fulfil this role. They leverage their extensive networks, experienced mentors, and comprehensive resources to create a supportive environment where entrepreneurs can pursue innovative ideas with a higher tolerance for risk. The backing of such robust institutions gives entrepreneurs the assurance they need to venture into uncharted territories.

The study reveals that while large incubators are successful in cultivating a more risk-tolerant entrepreneurial culture, smaller incubators face significant challenges. Entrepreneurs associated with smaller and medium-sized incubators tend to adopt a more cautious approach to risk, largely due to the limited resources and support available to them. To address this, smaller incubators need to enhance their capacity by expanding networks, increasing access to funding, and improving mentorship programs. These steps are crucial for creating a more balanced entrepreneurial ecosystem where risk-taking is consistently encouraged, regardless of incubator size.

4.5.3.3 Incubators as Cultural Anchors During Economic Challenges

During times of economic instability, incubators are not just providers of practical support; they also serve as cultural anchors that validate the entrepreneurial path. Large incubators are particularly effective in this role, offering entrepreneurs both the resources and the cultural reinforcement needed to persist in their ventures. However, smaller incubators struggle to provide the same level of reassurance due to their more limited resources. This gap underscores the importance of fostering a more supportive and resilient entrepreneurial culture where all entrepreneurs, regardless of their incubator affiliation, feel empowered to take risks and innovate.

4.5.3.4 Promoting a Resilient Entrepreneurial Culture

The future of Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem hinges on the ability of incubators to rise to these challenges. Success will depend on their capacity to offer not only the necessary resources but also the cultural support required to nurture a strong entrepreneurial spirit. By promoting success stories, advocating for favourable regulatory reforms, and broadening their networks, incubators can build an environment that embraces risk-taking and innovation, even in the face of economic adversity.

4.5.3.5 Evaluating the Influence of Incubators on Entrepreneurial Culture

The findings suggest that while large incubators in Pakistan are well-positioned to encourage risktaking and provide reassurance during economic instability, access to these benefits is often limited by intense competition for spots within these institutions. This competition creates significant barriers for many entrepreneurs, particularly those affiliated with smaller or medium-sized incubators, who may not receive the same level of support and encouragement to take risks.

To cultivate a more inclusive entrepreneurial culture, it is essential to address these disparities by enhancing the capabilities of smaller incubators. Ensuring that all entrepreneurs, regardless of the size of their incubator, have access to the necessary resources and cultural support is vital for fostering a robust and dynamic entrepreneurial ecosystem in Pakistan.

4.6 Human Capital and market

4.6.1 The Role of Incubators in Enhancing Market Access and Human Capital Development

In the face of Pakistan's unpredictable economic conditions and often inconsistent government support, incubators and accelerators have become indispensable to the country's entrepreneurial landscape. These institutions not only provide crucial market access but also play a vital role in human capital development, addressing gaps left by inconsistent government policies and support structures. This section explores whether incubators and accelerators can effectively foster a resilient entrepreneurial ecosystem by enhancing market access and developing the human capital necessary for sustained business growth.

Incubators serve as conduits for market entry, connecting start-ups to both local and international markets that might otherwise remain inaccessible. At the same time, they provide essential training and mentorship, helping entrepreneurs build the skills and expertise needed to navigate complex market challenges. However, the extent of this support varies significantly depending on the resources and networks available to each incubator. This section assesses the impact of these support mechanisms on market access and human capital development, particularly during periods of economic instability, and examines whether they can substitute for the foundational support typically expected from government interventions.

4.6.2 <u>Findings on Market Access and Human Capital Development in Pakistan's Entrepreneurial</u> <u>Ecosystem</u>

In the dynamic and often challenging entrepreneurial ecosystem of Pakistan, market access and human capital development are critical factors that influence the success of start-ups. Incubators play a pivotal role in addressing these areas, especially in a landscape where governmental support is inconsistent and economic stability is uncertain. This section explores how effectively incubators enhance market access and develop human capital, directly addressing the central research question: Can incubators and accelerators replace governmental support in these key areas?

Main categories	Themes	Codes	
Human Capital	Market Access Through Incubators	Facilitation of Access to International MarketsChallenges in Expanding internationaly	
and Market	Human Capital Development	 Importance of Comprehensive Training Programs Limited Access to Specialized Expertise 	

Figure 13: Thematic Analysis of Human Capital and Market

4.6.2.1 Theme 1: Market Access Through Incubators

Access to markets is a crucial element for the growth and sustainability of start-ups. Entrepreneurs consistently emphasized the role of incubators in facilitating connections to both local and international markets, which are often challenging to penetrate independently.

For instance, ENT-1 from a large incubator shared, "Our incubator opened doors to international markets that would have been inaccessible to us otherwise. This access was crucial, especially when the local economy was underperforming." Similarly, ENT-3 highlighted the strategic role of incubators in connecting start-ups with key industry players, stating, "The networking opportunities provided by our incubator were instrumental in helping us secure partnerships that significantly boosted our market reach."

However, this level of support was not uniformly available across all incubators. Entrepreneurs from medium-sized incubators, like ENT-8, noted, "While our incubator helped us establish a local presence, expanding beyond regional markets proved challenging due to limited international connections." This sentiment was echoed by ENT-13 from a small incubator, who remarked, "Our incubator lacked the resources to connect us with larger, more lucrative markets, limiting our growth potential."

These findings suggest that while incubators play a crucial role in enhancing market access, the extent of their impact is often determined by their size and the strength of their networks. Large incubators with extensive connections are better positioned to facilitate access to broader markets, providing a significant advantage to their associated start-ups. In contrast, smaller incubators face challenges in offering the same level of support, which can limit the growth opportunities for start-ups under their care.

4.6.2.2 Theme 2: Human Capital Development Through Incubators

Human capital development is fundamental to the success of any start-up, and incubators are pivotal in providing the training, mentorship, and resources needed to cultivate a skilled and effective workforce.

ENT-2 from a large incubator emphasized the importance of the human capital development programs offered by their incubator, stating, "The mentorship and training we received were critical in building a team that could navigate the complexities of scaling our business." ENT-1, another participant from a large incubator, noted, "Our incubator's access to industry experts provided us with the insights necessary to refine our business operations and innovate continuously."

In contrast, participants from smaller incubators expressed concerns about the limitations in their human capital development programs. ENT-14 from a small incubator shared, "While the basic

training was helpful, it was not sufficient to meet the evolving needs of our growing business. We had to seek additional resources outside the incubator to fill these gaps." Similarly, ENT-15 mentioned, "The mentorship available to us was valuable, but the limited access to specialized expertise hindered our ability to fully develop the skills needed to scale effectively."

These insights highlight the varying effectiveness of incubators in developing human capital, largely influenced by the resources and networks available to them. Large incubators with access to a broader pool of mentors and industry experts are better equipped to provide comprehensive support, enabling start-ups to build and maintain strong teams capable of driving innovation and growth. Conversely, smaller incubators, constrained by limited resources, often struggle to offer the same depth of human capital development, which can impede the long-term success of their start-ups.

4.6.3 Discussion

4.6.3.1 The Role of Incubators in Enhancing Market Access and Human Capital Development The findings from this study reveal the increasingly vital role that incubators play in addressing the gaps in market access and human capital development in Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem, especially in the absence of robust government support. However, when evaluating the central research question, the discussion highlights that while incubators provide essential support, their capacity to fully replace government intervention in market access and human capital development remains constrained by their size and resources. As the economy faces periods of volatility, the responsibility falls on incubators to fill the void left by government programs, ensuring the sustainability and growth of start-ups in a challenging environment. However, the ability of incubators to effectively perform these roles is closely tied to their size, resources, and adaptability.

4.6.3.2 Market Access: A Key Differentiator Among Incubators

In an economy as unpredictable as Pakistan's, market access remains a significant challenge for startups. The role of incubators in this regard becomes crucial, especially in the absence of strong government-backed initiatives. Large incubators, with their extensive networks and resources, have the capacity to connect start-ups to international markets and key industry players, providing them with a significant competitive advantage. This capability is particularly valuable during times of economic instability when local markets may be underperforming, and the need for external opportunities becomes critical. However, the study highlights a stark disparity in the ability of large versus small incubators to provide this essential support. While large incubators can leverage their networks to open doors to new markets, smaller incubators often lack the resources and connections necessary to offer the same level of support. This gap can significantly limit the growth potential of start-ups associated with smaller incubators, particularly those aiming to scale beyond regional boundaries.

To address this disparity, it is imperative that smaller incubators seek to strengthen their networks and resources. This could involve forming strategic partnerships with larger incubators or other industry players, and actively pursuing support from international organizations. In the absence of substantial government intervention, these efforts are essential for ensuring that all start-ups, regardless of their incubator affiliation, have access to the market opportunities necessary for their success.

4.6.3.3 Human Capital Development: The Foundation for Start-up Success

Human capital remains the cornerstone of any successful start-up, and in the context of Pakistan's entrepreneurial landscape, incubators play an increasingly important role in developing this capital. In the absence of significant government-led initiatives in education and skills development, incubators have stepped in to fill this critical gap. Large incubators, in particular, have been effective in offering comprehensive mentorship and training programs that equip entrepreneurs with the skills needed to thrive.

However, the study reveals that smaller incubators often struggle to provide the same level of support due to limited resources. This limitation presents a significant challenge in maintaining a skilled workforce, which is essential for driving innovation and operational efficiency. Without adequate human capital development, start-ups may find it difficult to sustain growth and competitiveness, especially in a volatile economic environment.

To mitigate this challenge, smaller incubators need to explore innovative ways to enhance their human capital development programs. This could include partnering with industry experts, utilizing online training platforms, or collaborating with larger incubators to provide more comprehensive support. In the absence of robust government support, these initiatives are crucial for ensuring that all start-ups have access to the knowledge and skills necessary to succeed.

4.6.3.4 The Complementary Role of Incubators in Market Access and Human Capital Development

In conclusion, the study underscores the critical role that incubators play in enhancing market access and human capital development, particularly in a context where government support is lacking. Large incubators have proven effective in providing these supports, but the limitations faced by smaller incubators highlight the need for a more coordinated and resource-rich approach across the entrepreneurial ecosystem.

As the country continues to navigate economic instability, it is essential that incubators of all sizes work together, leveraging each other's strengths to provide comprehensive support to start-ups. By fostering collaboration and resource-sharing, the entrepreneurial ecosystem in Pakistan can become more dynamic, resilient, and inclusive, ensuring that all start-ups have the opportunity to thrive, even in the absence of substantial government intervention.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

5.1 Overview

This dissertation aimed to explore the critical role of incubators in Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem, particularly in the face of economic instability and insufficient government support. The research sought to evaluate how effectively these incubators could foster the resilience and growth of start-ups, focusing on key areas such as market access, human capital development, and financial planning. Utilizing a qualitative research methodology, the study involved in-depth interviews with entrepreneurs associated with various incubators across Pakistan, providing a comprehensive understanding of the incubators' role in this challenging environment.

The findings revealed that large incubators are instrumental in offering significant support to startups, particularly in terms of market access, human capital development, and financial planning. However, smaller incubators face considerable challenges due to resource constraints, limiting their ability to provide similar levels of support. These findings underscore the importance of resource availability and the scale of operations in determining the effectiveness of incubators within Pakistan's volatile economic landscape.

5.2 Implications for Practitioners and Entrepreneurs

The results of this study have significant implications for those directly involved in the operations of start-ups and incubators. For incubator managers and entrepreneurs, the research highlights the necessity of adaptability, robust networks, and tailored support mechanisms. Given the economic instability in Pakistan, it is crucial that incubators enhance their mentorship programs, making them more adaptive to economic fluctuations by incorporating crisis management and financial resilience into their mentoring sessions. Additionally, developing financial planning workshops specifically designed for volatile markets would equip entrepreneurs with the tools and knowledge needed to manage risks more effectively.

Furthermore, the study emphasizes the importance of strengthening networks, particularly in connecting start-ups with global markets. This connectivity is vital during local economic downturns, as it opens new avenues for market expansion and sustains business growth. In the long term, incubators should focus on building more sustainable and resilient models, which could include diversifying funding sources and continuously updating their support programs to meet the evolving needs of start-ups.

5.3 Implications for Investors and Financial Institutions

The research also has critical implications for investors and financial institutions, underscoring their vital role in supporting the entrepreneurial ecosystem, especially in economically unstable environments. Investors need to identify and support high-potential start-ups within incubators, offering the necessary funding and resources to help them scale. Creating risk management strategies that address the specific challenges identified in this study, such as developing specialized financial products to mitigate the risks faced by start-ups in unstable economies, will be crucial.

Moreover, forming partnerships with incubators can significantly enhance the growth and sustainability of these ventures. By working closely with incubators, investors and financial institutions can strengthen the financial ecosystem, co-developing funding programs and offering tailored financial products that cater specifically to the needs of start-ups.

5.4 Implications for Academics and Researchers

This dissertation makes a meaningful contribution to the academic discourse on entrepreneurial ecosystems in developing countries, particularly in contexts marked by economic volatility. The research addresses significant gaps in the literature regarding the role of incubators in unstable economic environments, providing insights that can inform both theory and practice. By examining the specific dynamics of Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem, this study enhances our understanding of how entrepreneurial support structures function in developing nations.

Future research could build on these findings by conducting comparative studies of incubators in different countries facing similar economic challenges. Additionally, longitudinal studies that assess the long-term impact of incubators on start-up success in unstable economies would provide valuable insights into their sustainability and effectiveness. Further exploration of specific elements of ecosystem theory, such as the role of informal networks and community-based support structures, could also yield deeper insights into the dynamics of entrepreneurial ecosystems in developing nations.

5.5 Implications for Investors and Financial Institutions

Large businesses and financial institutions have a significant role to play in enhancing the effectiveness of incubators through strategic investments. The potential of these businesses to support incubators cannot be overstated. By investing in large incubators, these institutions can help expand their reach and resources, increasing their capacity to support a broader range of start-ups. Financial institutions, in particular, should focus on developing specialized financial products and forming

partnerships with incubators to support start-ups, especially those facing the challenges highlighted in this study.

Creating a supportive financial ecosystem requires collaboration between investors, financial institutions, and incubators. By offering financial products designed to mitigate risks and collaborating on funding initiatives for high-potential start-ups, these stakeholders can foster a more supportive financial environment that enhances the growth and sustainability of the entrepreneurial ecosystem.

5.6 Final Thoughts and Directions for Future Research

In conclusion, this dissertation has made significant contributions to understanding the role of incubators in Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem, particularly in the context of economic instability. The research fills critical gaps in the literature and provides actionable insights for various stakeholders, including practitioners, investors, academics, and government officials. It is evident that ongoing collaboration among incubators, large businesses, and financial institutions is essential for supporting entrepreneurship in developing economies, ensuring the resilience and sustainability of start-ups.

However, one of the notable limitations of this study is the relatively small participant group, which may not fully capture the diversity of experiences and perspectives across different regions of Pakistan. Future research could build on these findings by involving a larger and more diverse sample size. Such an approach could allow for a more comprehensive analysis, exploring how regional differences impact the effectiveness of incubators. This would enable a deeper understanding of which provinces or areas demonstrate better performances in terms of incubator success and the utilization of support mechanisms. Understanding these regional variations could provide valuable guidance for tailoring incubator support to meet the specific needs of entrepreneurs across different provinces.

Moreover, future research could involve comparative studies of incubators in different countries facing similar economic challenges, as well as longitudinal studies that assess the long-term impact of incubators on start-up success in unstable economies. These studies would provide valuable insights into the sustainability and effectiveness of incubators over time. Further exploration of specific elements of ecosystem theory, such as the role of informal networks and community-based support structures, could also yield deeper insights into the dynamics of entrepreneurial ecosystems in developing nations.

The findings of this study call for concrete actions from each stakeholder group to enhance the entrepreneurial ecosystem in Pakistan and similar contexts. By fostering a more resilient and dynamic environment for start-ups, these efforts will contribute to sustained economic growth and innovation in developing countries.

Appendix

Central Research Question 1: "Acknowledging the business environment as a network of interconnected elements (Ecosystem theory), how do incubators and accelerators in Pakistan support the resilience and growth of startups during negrice of a concordic instability.			Standardised Interview Questions For All Entrepreneurs	Related to Research Question	Explanation	
during periods of economic instability?		,	Can you describe your overall experience with incubators and accelerators in Pakistan? And what about governmental support?	CRQ1, CRQ2	Provides general insights into the effectiveness of incubators/accelerators and comparison with government support.	
Central Research Question 2: What are the cha	allenges and limitat	tions faced by incubators and accelerators in		What specific challenges have you faced due to economic instability in Pakistan?	CRQ1, CRQ2	Directly explores the impact of economic instability and the role of incubators in addressing these challenges.
derivering services energy as an electrocite to	government sapp	UT III Pakistona major oroon centera:		How have incubators or accelerators helped you address these challenges?	CRQ1, CRQ2	Examines how incubators contribute to startup resilience and growth during economic downturns.
Specific Interview Questions For Established	Related to Research	Funlamation		What services provided by incubators and accelerators have been the most beneficial for your business?	CRQ1, CRQ2	Identifies critical services that support growth and resilience, and their effectiveness compared to government support.
Entrepreneurs What factors contributed to the scaling of	Question	Explores factors of growth, linking to how		Can you provide examples of how incubators and accelerators have helped your start-up grow?	CRQ1	Directly relates to the mechanisms through which incubators support startup growth, a key part of CRQ1.
your business? How has your relationship with incubators	CRQ1, CKQ2	Incubators have contributed to scaling, relevant to CRQ1. Focuses on the evolving role of incubators in		How do you measure the impact of the support you receive from incubators and accelerators?	CRQ1	Offers insights into the perceived effectiveness and tangible outcomes of incubator support, linking to growth and resilience.
or accelerators evolved as your business grew? What long-term impacts have incubators	CRQ1	sustaining growth, addressing CRQ1. Directly related to the long-term effects of		In what ways do you think incubators and accelerators can improve their support during economic downturns?	CRQ1, CRQ2	Addresses potential improvements and gaps in current support systems, relevant to both research questions.
and accelerators had on your business sustainability?	CRQ1	incubator support on resilience and sustainability, key to CRQ1.		What are the main limitations or challenges you have encountered while working with	CRQ2	Directly explores the challenges and limitations faced by incubators, crucial for CRQ2.
incubators or accelerators to any government support you have received?	CRQ2	effectiveness of incubators versus government support, relevant to CRQ2.	ative insights into the incubators and accelerator incubators versus government it to CRQ2. Do you believe incubators	incubators and accelerators? Do you believe incubators and accelerators can		Examines the role of incubators as alternatives
What advice would you give to new entrepreneurs considering joining an incubator or accelerator?	CRQ1	Offers insights into the perceived value and effectiveness of incubators from an experienced entremeneur's perspective. Jinking to CRO1	insights into the perceived value and veness of incubators from an experienced reneur's nersentive linking to CR01		CRQ2	to government support, directly addressing CRQ2.
		EIIn Elignia s'hersheerikt munik je eridir		How do you see the future role of incubators and accelerators in Pakistan's entrepreneurial ecosystem?	CRQ1, CRQ2	Offers perspectives on the evolving role of incubators, relevant to both research questions.
Specific Interview Questions For Incubate Entrepreneurs	Related to Research	Explanation				
What motivated you to join an incubator or	Question CRQ1	Explores the motivations and expectations of current participants, providing insights into how		Specific Interview Questions For Aspiring Entrepreneurs	Related to Research Question	Explanation
accelerator program.		Incubators are perceived as growth enablers, relevant to CRQ1.		How do you perceive the role of incubators and accelerators in helping startups in Pakistan?	CRQ1	Provides perceptions of the value and role of incubators, especially in fostering resilience and growth, directly linked to CRQ1.
accelerator influenced your business strategy?	CRQ1	strategic growth decisions, addressing CRQ1. Identifies key services provided by incubators		What are your expectations from joining an incubator or accelerator program?	CRQ1	Explores expectations of support, providing insights into perceived value and potential impact indicate to CPO1
What specific resources or support have you found most helpful in your current program? (Which has been less useful and what support have you been missing)	CRQ1, CRQ2	that contribute to resilience and growth (relevant to CRQ1) while also highlighting limitations and gaps in support services that address challenges explored in CRQ2		What barriers have you faced in trying to join an incubator or accelerator?	CRQ2	Identifies barriers to access, providing insights into the limitations of incubators as a support system, key to CRQ2.
How do you interact with other startups within your incubator or accelerator?	CRQ1	Examines the role of networking and peer interactions in incubator programs, relevant to growth and resilience, key aspects of CRQ1.		What specific areas do you hope to develop through the support of an incubator or accelerator?	CRQ1	Links to the perceived needs of startups and how incubators are expected to address these, relevant to CRQ1.
What challenges have you faced during your time in the incubator or accelerator, and how could the program support you better?	CRQ2	Directly addresses challenges faced during incubation, providing insights into the limitations of incubators and offers recommendations for improvement,		How do you plan to measure the success of your participation in an incubator or accelerator program?	CRQ1	Provides insight into how aspiring entrepreneurs will evaluate the impact of incubators on their growth, relevant to CRQ1.

Table 1: Mapping of Interview Questions to Central Research Questions

Reference list

- Ahmad, I., Ur Rehman, K., Ali, A., Khan, I. and Khan, F.A. (2014). Critical Analysis of the Problems of Education in Pakistan: Possible Solutions. *International Journal of Evaluation and Research in Education (IJERE)*, [online] 3(2). doi:https://doi.org/10.11591/ijere.v3i2.1805.
- Ahmad, M.I.S., Idrus, M.I. and Rijal, S. (2023). The Role of Education in Fostering Entrepreneurial Spirit in the Young Generation. *Journal of Contemporary Administration and Management (ADMAN)*, [online] 1(2), pp.93–100. doi:https://doi.org/10.61100/adman.v1i2.28.
- 3. Ahmed, M. (2016). *Technology in Pakistan: A Slow March*. [online] Thediplomat.com. Available at: https://thediplomat.com/2016/09/technology-in-pakistan-a-slow-march/.
- Al-Mubaraki, H.M., Busler, M. and M, A. (2013). Towards a New Vision for Sustainability of Incubator Best Practices Model in the Years to Come. *Journal of Economics and Sustainable Development*, [online] 4(1), p.114. Available at: https://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/JEDS/article/view/4105 [Accessed 26 Apr. 2024].
- Al-Baimani, N., Clifton, N., Jones, E. and Pugh, R. (2021). Applying the ecosystem model in a new context? The case of business incubation in Oman. *Growth and Change*. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/grow.12471.
- Alaassar, A., Mention, A.-L. and Aas, T.H. (2021). Exploring a New Incubation Model for FinTechs: Regulatory Sandboxes. *Technovation*, 103, p.102237. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2021.102237.
- Alam, N., Shopovski, J. and Aicha El Alaoui (2024). Obstacles to Development of Entrepreneurship in Pakistan. *European Scientific Journal*, 20(4), pp.52–52. doi:https://doi.org/10.19044/esj.2024.v20n4p52.
- Ali, Q., Anwar, S. and Rizwan, M. (2023). Impact of Innovation on Productivity and Efficiency: Evidence from the Textile Industry of Pakistan. *Journal of Economic Impact*, 5(1), pp.22–31. doi:https://doi.org/10.52223/jei5012303.
- Antoncic, J.A., Antoncic, B., Gantar, M., Hisrich, R.D., Marks, L.J., Bachkirov, A.A., Li, Z., Polzin, P., Borges, J.L., Coelho, A. and Kakkonen, M.-L. (2018). Risk-Taking Propensity and Entrepreneurship: The Role of Power Distance. *Journal of Enterprising Culture*, 26(01), pp.1–26. doi:https://doi.org/10.1142/s0218495818500012.
- Arif, S. (2022). Promoting Technology-driven Entrepreneurship in Pakistan. [online] CASS. Available at: https://casstt.com/promoting-technology-driven-entrepreneurship-inpakistan/#:~:text=Amongst%20the%20many%20areas%2C%20where [Accessed 8 Jul. 2024].

- Asad Zameer, M. (2020). Role of Incubators in the Startup Ecosystem of Pakistan. [online] The Dayspring | Youth Centric Newspaper of Pakistan. Available at: https://www.thedayspring.com.pk/role-of-incubators-in-the-startup-ecosystem-of-pakistan/ [Accessed 15 Apr. 2024].
- Austin, Z. and Sutton, J. (2014). Qualitative research: getting started. *The Canadian journal of hospital pharmacy*, [online] 67(6), pp.436–40. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4275140/.
- Awan, S.H., Sultan, Dr.F. and din, Dr.A. (2022). Impact of Critical Factors on Entrepreneurship Development: Evidence from Business Incubation Center of Pakistan. *International Journal of Social Science & Entrepreneurship*, 2(2), pp.72–95. doi:https://doi.org/10.58661/ijsse.v2i2.43.
- Bergmann, T. and Utikal, H. (2021). How to Support Start-Ups in Developing a Sustainable Business Model: The Case of an European Social Impact Accelerator. *Sustainability*, 13(6), p.3337. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/su13063337.
- Boogert, E. (2024). Venture Crossroads: Pakistan's Corporate Giants at a Critical Juncture. [online] Mach49.com. Available at: https://www.mach49.com/venture-crossroads-pakistan-scorporate-giants-at-a-critical-juncture.
- Busler, M. (2015). Innovation and Entrepreneurship. *SpringerBriefs in Business*. [online] Available at: https://www.academia.edu/95106657/Innovation_and_Entrepreneurship [Accessed 26 Apr. 2024].
- Bwalya, J. (2017). (PDF) What Makes Qualitative Research Good Research? An Exploratory Analysis of Critical Elements. [online] ResearchGate. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319679032_What_Makes_Qualitative_Research_G ood_Research_An_Exploratory_Analysis_of_Critical_Elements.
- Bylon Abeeku Bamfo, Felicity Asiedu-Appiah and Enya Besa Ameza-Xemalordzo (2023). Developing a framework for entrepreneurship ecosystem for developing countries: The application of institutional theory. 10(2). doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2023.2195967.
- Callegari, B. and Feder, C. (2021). Entrepreneurship and the systemic consequences of epidemics: A literature review and emerging model. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 3. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365-021-00790-2.
- Chaudhary, S., Kaur, P., Ferraris, A., Bresciani, S. and Dhir, A. (2024). Connecting entrepreneurial ecosystem and innovation. Grasping at straws or hitting a home run? *Technovation*, [online] 130, p.102942.

doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2023.102942.

- Collins, C.S. and Stockton, C.M. (2018). The Central Role of Theory in Qualitative Research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, [online] 17(1), pp.1–10. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918797475.
- Corvello, V., Cimino, A. and Felicetti, A.M. (2023). Building start-up acceleration capability: A dynamic capability framework for collaboration with start-ups. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*, [online] 9(3), p.100104. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joitmc.2023.100104.
- Crnogaj, K. and Rus, M. (2023). From Start to Scale: Navigating Innovation, Entrepreneurial Ecosystem, and Strategic Evolution. *Administrative Sciences*, [online] 13(12), p.254. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci13120254.
- Desk, B.W. (2024). Pakistan eyes access to Chinese capital markets: Aurangzeb. [online] Brecorder. Available at: https://www.brecorder.com/news/40306997/pakistan-eyes-access-tochinese-capital-markets-aurangzeb [Accessed 5 Jun. 2024].
- 25. Dunham, R. (2023). Global business: Pakistan's startup ecosystem is helping to rejuvenate the economy. [online] GBJprogram. Available at: https://www.globalbusinessjournalism.com/post/global-business-pakistan-s-startupecosystem-is-helping-to-rejuvenate-the-economy.
- Fairlie, R.W. and Fossen, F.M. (2018). Opportunity versus Necessity Entrepreneurship: Two Components of Business Creation. SSRN Electronic Journal. [online] doi:https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3169864.
- Farrukh, M., Lee, J.W.C., Sajid, M. and Waheed, A. (2019). Entrepreneurial intentions. *Education + Training*, 61(7/8), pp.984–1000. doi:https://doi.org/10.1108/et-09-2018-0194.
- Fratzscher, M. (2012). Capital flows, push versus pull factors and the global financial crisis. *Journal of International Economics*, [online] 88(2), pp.341–356. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinteco.2012.05.003.
- George, S. (2023). Causes and Consequences of Pakistan's Economic Crisis. [online] doi:https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.8436578.
- 30. Glass, L.-M. and Newig, J. (2019). Governance for Achieving the Sustainable Development Goals: How Important Are participation, Policy coherence, reflexivity, Adaptation and Democratic institutions? *Earth System Governance*, [online] 2(1), p.100031. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esg.2019.100031.
- 31. GSDRC (2005). Countries at Risk of Instability: Risk Factors of and Dynamics of Instability. [online] GSDRC. Available at: https://gsdrc.org/document-library/countries-at-risk-ofinstability-risk-factors-of-and-dynamics-of-instability/.
- Hafeez, S., Ali, Q. and Nawaz, M.A. (2021). Business Incubators in Pakistan: State of the Art and Future Outlook. *Journal of Accounting and Finance in Emerging Economies*, 7(4), pp.979–980. doi:https://doi.org/10.26710/jafee.v7i4.2097.

- Haider, A., Din, M. ud and Ghani, E. (2011). Consequences of Political Instability, Governance and Bureaucratic Corruption on Inflation and Growth: The Case of Pakistan.
 [online] mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de. Available at: https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/35584/.
- 34. Haq, I. (2024). The Retail Sector's \$15 Billion Tax Potential. [online] The Friday Times. Available at: https://thefridaytimes.com/25-May-2024/the-retail-sector-s-dollar-15-billiontax-potential#:~:text=According%20to%20a%20report%20published [Accessed 15 Jun. 2024].
- 35. Hassan, T. (2021). *Airlift may have hit a billion, but is it for real?* [online] Profit by Pakistan Today. Available at: https://profit.pakistantoday.com.pk/2021/12/26/airlift-may-have-hit-a-billion-but-is-it-for-real/.
- 36. Hunt, A. (2023). The rocky road ahead for Pakistan's start-up ecosystem. [online] www.fdiintelligence.com. Available at: https://www.fdiintelligence.com/content/feature/therocky-road-ahead-for-pakistans-startup-ecosystem-81994.
- Isenberg, D. (2010). *How to Start an Entrepreneurial Revolution*. [online] Available at: https://institute.coop/sites/default/files/resources/Isenberg%20-%20How%20to%20Start%20an%20Entrepreneurial%20Revolution.pdf.
- Isenberg, D. (2011). The Entrepreneurship Ecosystem Strategy as a New Paradigm for Economic Policy: Principles for Cultivating Entrepreneurship 1. [online] Available at: http://www.innovationamerica.us/images/stories/2011/The-entrepreneurship-ecosystemstrategy-for-economic-growth-policy-20110620183915.pdf.
- Isenberg, D. (2014). What an Entrepreneurship Ecosystem Actually Is. [online] Harvard Business Review. Available at: https://hbr.org/2014/05/what-an-entrepreneurial-ecosystemactually-is.
- Javadian, G., Dobratz, C., Gupta, A., Gupta, V.K. and Martin, J.A. (2020). Qualitative Research in Entrepreneurship Studies: A State-of-Science. *The Journal of Entrepreneurship*, 29(2), pp.223–258. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/0971355720930564.
- Jawaid, M. (2020). How a lack of innovation is crippling Pakistan's economy. [online] The Express Tribune. Available at: https://tribune.com.pk/article/97206/how-a-lack-of-innovationis-crippling-pakistans-economy.
- Jonek-Kowalska, I. and Wolniak, R. (2021). The Influence of Local Economic Conditions on Start-Ups and Local Open Innovation System. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*, [online] 7(2), p.110. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc7020110.
- 43. Kamran, M.R., Haroon, Z.H., Saleem, A. and Rehan, F. (2022). Perceptive FDI in Relation to Ease of Business: An empirical Analysis of Asian Countries. *Review of Applied Management* and Social Sciences, 5(4), pp.499–510. doi:https://doi.org/10.47067/ramss.v5i4.267.
- 44. Kazi Shek Farid, Mahmood, T., Mumtaz, M. and Sarfraz Hussain Ansari (2023). Impact of foreign direct investment on the exports of five major sectors of Pakistan's economy: A

governance perspective. *Chinese Journal of Population, Resources and Environment*, 21(3), pp.181–188. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjpre.2023.09.007.

- Keith, R.J., Given, L.M., Martin, J.M. and Hochuli, D.F. (2022). Collaborating with qualitative researchers to co-design social-ecological studies. *Austral Ecology*, 47(4), pp.880– 888. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/aec.13172.
- 46. Khan, U., Ali, Y., Petrillo, A. and Felice, F.D. (2023). Macro-environmental factors and their impact on startups from the perspective of developing countries. *International Journal of Sustainable Engineering*, 16(1), pp.166–183. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/19397038.2023.2238754.
- Khawaja, M.I. and Khan, S. (2009). Reforming Institutions: Where to Begin? *The Pakistan Development Review*, [online] 48(3), pp.241–267. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/41261001 [Accessed 24 Apr. 2024].
- Klasing, M.J. (2014). Cultural change, risk-taking behavior and implications for economic development. *Journal of Development Economics*, 110, pp.158–169. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2014.06.001.
- Kritikos, A. (2014). Entrepreneurs and Their Impact on Jobs and Economic Growth. *IZA World of Labor*, [online] 8(1). doi:https://doi.org/10.15185/izawol.8.
- Kshetri, N. (2014). Developing successful entrepreneurial ecosystems. *Baltic Journal of Management*, 9(3), pp.330–356. doi:https://doi.org/10.1108/bjm-09-2013-0146.
- Kumar, M. (2020). Entrepreneurship Ecosystem and Development of Entrepreneurship in Pakistan. Open Journal of Business and Management, 08(04), pp.1734–1770. doi:https://doi.org/10.4236/ojbm.2020.84109.
- 52. Latif, R. and Javid, Y. (2016). The Determinants of Pakistan Exports of Textile: An Integrated Demand and Supply Approach. ©*The Pakistan Development Review*, [online] 55(3), pp.191–210. Available at: https://file.pide.org.pk/pdf/PDR/2016/Volume3/191-210.pdf [Accessed 6 Aug. 2024].
- 53. Li, C., Ahmed, N., Qalati, S.A., Khan, A. and Naz, S. (2020). Role of Business Incubators as a Tool for Entrepreneurship Development: The Mediating and Moderating Role of Business Start-Up and Government Regulations. *Sustainability*, 12(5), p.1822. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/su12051822.
- 54. Lyttle, C. (2022). How does Singapore punch above its weight when it comes to attracting FDI? [online] Investment Monitor. Available at: https://www.investmentmonitor.ai/insights/how-does-singapore-punch-above-its-weightwhen-it-comes-to-attracting-fdi/.
- 55. Macko, A. (2009). (*PDF*) Entrepreneurship and Risk Taking. [online] ResearchGate. Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/227660026_Entrepreneurship_and_Risk_Taking.

- Madaleno, M., Nathan, M., Overman, H. and Waights, S. (2021). Incubators, accelerators and urban economic development. *Urban Studies*, 59(2), p.004209802110042. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/00420980211004209.
- 57. mahmood, A. and Sedeh, A. (2021). Innovative entrepreneurship in emerging and developing economies: the effects of entrepreneurial competancies and institutional voids. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 47(47). doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-021-09874-1.
- 58. Mahmood, N., Jamil, F. and Yasir, N. (2022). ROLE OF BUSINESS INCUBATORS IN ENTREPRENEURSHIP DEVELOPMENT IN PAKISTAN. [online] Available at: https://www.cusit.edu.pk/curj/Journals/Journal/special_aic_16/5.pdf.
- Mai Ngoc Khurong and Van Thanh Nguyen (2023). Entrepreneurial ecosystem affects organisational learning, creativity and success. *Cogent Business & Management*, 10(3). doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2023.2260125.
- Mangi, F. (2022). How a Startup Folded Just a Year After Raising \$85 Million. Bloomberg.com. [online] 12 Sep. Available at: https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-09-12/how-a-startup-folded-just-a-yearafter-raising-85-million?embedded-checkout=true [Accessed 8 Jul. 2024].
- Marchese, S., Gastaldi, L. and Corso, M. (2023). Thriving in turbulent environments through adaptive forms of organizing. *Management Decision*. doi:https://doi.org/10.1108/md-05-2022-0655.
- 62. Motte, T. (2022). *Airlift: a pragmatic analysis of Pakistan's most funded startup's failure*. [online] www.realisticoptimist.io. Available at: https://www.realisticoptimist.io/p/airlift-apragmatic-analysis-of-pakistans [Accessed 26 Apr. 2024].
- 63. Nadeem, M. (2022). *How to blow \$85 million in 11 months: The inside story of Airlift's crash*. [online] Rest of World. Available at: https://restofworld.org/2022/inside-story-of-airlift-crash/.
- Nasar, Kamarudin, Rizal, Ngoc and Shoaib (2019). Short-Term and Long-Term Entrepreneurial Intention Comparison between Pakistan and Vietnam. *Sustainability*, 11(23), p.6529. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/su11236529.
- 65. Nawaz, S. (2024). Pakistan's next government faces an economy sliding into the void. [online] East Asia Form. Available at: https://eastasiaforum.org/2024/01/25/pakistans-next-government-faces-an-economy-sliding-into-the-void/ [Accessed 16 Apr. 2024].
- 66. Nejati, V. and Shahidi, S. (2013). Does the Ability to Make a New Business Need More Risky Choices during Decisions? Evidences for the Neurocognitive Basis of Entrepreneurship. *Basic and clinical neuroscience*, [online] 4(4), pp.287–90. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4202576/.

- Noer, P., Setiawan, D., Y. Anni Aryani and Evi Gantyowati (2023). The Relationship between Innovation and Risk Taking: The Role of Firm Performance. *Risks*, 11(8), pp.144– 144. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/risks11080144.
- Pattanasak, P., Anantana, T., Paphawasit, B. and Wudhikarn, R. (2022). Critical Factors and Performance Measurement of Business Incubators: A Systematic Literature Review. *Sustainability*, 14(8), p.4610. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/su14084610.
- 69. Pervaiz, A. and Khan, M.S. (2015). Entrepreneurial Relations of Pakistani Entrepreneurs. *SAGE Open*, 5(4), p.215824401560735. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244015607354.
- Polit, D.F. and Beck, C.T. (2010). Generalization in Quantitative and Qualitative Research: Myths and Strategies. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 47(11), pp.1451–1458. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2010.06.004.
- Poschke, M. (2010). 'Entrepreneurs Out of Necessity': A Snapshot. SSRN Electronic Journal. doi:https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1595534.
- Prof. Dr. Dilshad Zafar, Khan, S., Khan, Dr.M.I., paracha, S. and saleem, A. (2022). Factors influencing entrepreneurship capabilities in Pakistan. *International Journal of Social Science & Entrepreneurship*, 2(2), pp.47–71. doi:https://doi.org/10.58661/ijsse.v2i2.36.
- PURANAM, P., ALEXY, O. and REITZIG, M. (2014). WHAT'S 'NEW' ABOUT NEW FORMS OF ORGANIZING?. *The Academy of Management Review*, [online] 39(2), pp.162– 180. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/43699235.
- 74. Qamar, U., Ansari, N., Tanveer, F. and Qamar, N. (2020). Social Entrepreneurship in Pakistan: Challenges and Prospects. *Journal of Management and Research*, 7(2), pp.1–41. doi:https://doi.org/10.29145/jmr/72/070201.
- 75. Ramzan, M., Yao, H., Abbas, Q., Fatima, S. and Hussain, H. (2023). Role of institutional quality in debt-growth relationship in Pakistan: An econometric inquiry. *Heliyon*, 9(8), pp.e18574–e18574. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e18574.
- 76. Rana, L. (2022). Navigating Legal Challenges as a New Startup in Pakistan: An Analysis of the Regulatory Framework. [online] Pakistan Journal of Law, Analysis and Wisdom. Available at: Navigating Legal Challenges as a New Startup in Pakistan PAKISTAN JOURNAL OF LAW, ANALYSIS AND WISDOM https://pjlaw.com.pk > Journal > article > download [Accessed 5 Jun. 2024].
- 77. Riaz, N. (2024). Tech funding might be recovering in the US, but the trickle down effect will take its sweet time getting to Pakistan. [online] Profit by Pakistan Today. Available at: https://profit.pakistantoday.com.pk/2024/04/29/tech-funding-might-be-recovering-in-the-us-but-the-trickle-down-effect-will-take-its-sweet-time-getting-to-pakistan/ [Accessed 6 Aug. 2024].
- 78. Rogge, N. and Archer, G. (2020). Measuring and analyzing country change in establishing ease of doing business using a revised version of World Bank's Ease of Doing Business

Index. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 290(1). doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2020.07.065.

- 79. Rossow, R.M. (2023). An Agenda for India to Re-Ignite Interest among Foreign Investors. *www.csis.org*. [online] Available at: https://www.csis.org/analysis/agenda-india-re-ignite-interest-among-foreign-investors.
- 80. Sagar, S. (2024). Entrepreneurship: Catalyst for Innovation and Economic Growth. *International Journal of Innovative Science and Research Technology*, [online] 9(1). Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/377363303_Entrepreneurship_Catalyst_for_Innovat ion_and_Economic_Growth [Accessed 15 Apr. 2024].

- 81. Shah, M.S. and Lala, M.F. (2023). Determinants of Entrepreneurial Success in a Conflictaffected Region: Investigating the Role of Select Entrepreneurial Competencies and Environmental Factors on Entrepreneurial Success in Kashmir. *Business Perspectives and Research*, 7(1), p.227853372211488. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/22785337221148881.
- 82. Siddiqui, Z. (2022). *Who will be Pakistan's first unicorn?* [online] Rest of World. Available at: https://restofworld.org/2022/pakistans-first-unicorn/.
- Solomon, E.M. and van Klyton, A. (2020). The impact of digital technology usage on economic growth in Africa. *Utilities Policy*, 67(12), p.101104. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jup.2020.101104.
- Solymossy, E. (2005). Entrepreneurship in Extreme Environments: Building an Expanded Model. *The International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 1(4), pp.501–518. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365-005-4775-6.
- 85. Spigel, B. and Harrison, R. (2018). Toward a process theory of entrepreneurial ecosystems. *Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal*, 12(1), pp.151–168. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/sej.1268.
- 86. Startup Scene (2022). The Rise & Fall of Airlift Technologies An Insider Analysis. [online] Startupscene. Available at: https://thestartupscene.me/MenaEcosystems/The-Rise-Fall-of-Airlift-Technologies-An-Insider-Analysis.
- 87. Tanveer, M., Ali, H. and Haq, I.U. (2021). Educational Entrepreneurship Policy Challenges and Recommendations for Pakistani Universities. *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*, [online] 20(2), pp.1–704. Available at: https://www.abacademies.org/articles/educationalentrepreneurship-policy-challenges-and-recommendations-for-pakistani-universities-10331.html.
- 88. Tanveer, M., Khan, A. and Hussain, B. (2021). Measurement and Determinants of Informal Employment: Evidence from Pakistan PAPER INFO ABSTRACT. *Pakistan Social Sciences Review*, [online] 5(3). Available at: https://pssr.org.pk/issues/v5/3/measurement-anddeterminants-of-informal-employment-evidence-from-pakistan.pdf.

- 89. Tenny, S., Brannan, J. and Brannan, G. (2022). *Qualitative Study*. [online] National Library of Medicine. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK470395/.
- 90. Wadho, W. and Chaudhry, A. (2018). Innovation and firm performance in developing countries: The case of Pakistani textile and apparel manufacturers. *Research Policy*, 47(7), pp.1283–1294. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.04.007.
- Yaqub, M., Mufti, N., Ali, S. and Khaleeq, M. (2015). Impact of Entrepreneurship Education on Attitudes of Students Towards Entrepreneurship. *Journal of Basic & Applied Sciences*, 11, pp.590–595. doi:https://doi.org/10.6000/1927-5129.2015.11.79.
- 92. Zaman, K. (2023). Munich Personal RePEc Archive Lessons from Pakistan's Economic Crisis POLITICA Navigating the Perils of a Banana Republic: Lessons from Pakistan's Economic Crisis. *Crisis. Politica*, [online] 1(1), pp.33–41. doi:https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7715198.
- 93. Ziakis, C., Vlachopoulou, M. and Petridis, K. (2022). Start-Up Ecosystem (StUpEco): A Conceptual Framework and Empirical Research. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*, 8(1), p.35. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc8010035.